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INFRONEER Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheet

March 31
2022 2022

ASSETS (Millions of yen)
(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(Note 3)

Current assets:
Cash and time deposits (Note 9) ¥ 78,036 $ 637,601
Trade receivables: (Notes 9 and 28)

Notes 10,650 87,017
Accounts 300,152 2,452,423
Allowance for doubtful accounts (118) (964)

310,684 2,538,476
Marketable securities 30 245
Inventories (Notes 8 and 9) 20,703 169,156
Other current assets 43,149 352,553

Total current assets 452,602 3,698,031

Investments and other assets:
Investments in securities (Notes 5 and 9) 120,124 981,485
Deferred tax assets 841 6,871
Right to operate public facilities (Note 9) 109,721 896,487

Assets related to replacement investment to operate public facilities 24,122 197,091
Goodwill 19,892 162,530
Other intangible fixed assets 14,989 122,469
Long-term loans receivable 222 1,814
Claims provable in bankruptcy and other 354 2,892
Asset for retirement benefits 14,907 121,799
Other investments (Note 9) 5,418 44,269
Allowance for doubtful accounts (402) (3,284)

Total investments and other assets 310,188 2,534,423

Property and equipment, at cost:
(Notes 9 and 22)

Buildings and structures 107,477 878,152
Machinery and equipment 145,015 1,184,860
Vehicles 9,951 81,306
Tools, furniture and fixtures 16,682 136,302
Land 83,599 683,054
Construction in progress 2,550 20,835
Leased assets 1,334 10,899

366,608 2,995,408
Accumulated depreciation (203,029) (1,658,869)

Property and equipment, net 163,579 1,336,539

Deferred assets 63 514

TOTAL ASSETS ¥ 926,432 $ 7,569,507

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.
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March 31
2022 2022

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS (Millions of yen)
(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(Note 3)

Current liabilities:
Short-term debt (Note 9) ¥ 85,687 $ 700,114
Trade payables 110,998 906,921
Lease obligations 236 1,928
Advances on construction work in progress 34,863 284,852
Accrued income taxes 10,897 89,035
Provision for repairs and warranty 182 1,487
Provision for bonuses for employees 8,080 66,018
Provision for bonuses for directors 407 3,325
Provision for share-based remuneration 380 3,105
Provision for warranties for completed construction 1,084 8,857
Provision for loss on construction contracts 836 6,831
Liabilities related to right to operate public facilities 4,555 37,217
Liabilities related to replacement investment to operate public facilities 1,016 8,301
Other current liabilities 40,016 326,955
Total current liabilities 299,237 2,444,946

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 9) 107,799 880,783
Lease obligations 452 3,693
Liability for retirement benefits 16,768 137,005
Deferred tax liabilities 14,305 116,880
Liabilities related to right to operate public facilities 103,844 848,468
Liabilities related to replacement investment to operate public facilities 24,589 200,907
Other long-term liabilities 3,573 29,193
Total long-term liabilities 271,330 2,216,929

Commitments and contingent liabilities 
(Note 16)

Net Assets
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock 20,000 163,412
Additional paid-in capital 134,117 1,095,817
Retained earnings 198,274 1,620,018
Treasury stock, at cost (24,343) (198,897)

Total shareholders’ equity 328,048 2,680,350

Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on investments in securities 18,275 149,317
Deferred gains or losses on hedges 4 33
Foreign currency translation adjustments (96) (784)
Retirement benefits liability adjustments 680 5,556

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 18,863 154,122

Non-controlling interests 8,954 73,160
Total net assets 355,865 2,907,632

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS ¥ 926,432 $ 7,569,507 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.



3

INFRONEER Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Income

For the year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen)
(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(Note 3)

Net sales (Note 29) ¥ 682,913 $ 5,579,811

Cost of sales (Notes 8 and 19) 591,303 4,831,302
Gross profit 91,610 748,509

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 17) 54,120 442,193
Operating profit 37,490 306,316

Other income (expenses):
Interest and dividend income 2,475 20,222
Interest expenses (2,572) (21,015)
Gain on sale of fixed assets (Note 20) 332 2,713
Gain on sale of investments in securities 7,808 63,796
Loss on retirement of fixed assets (Note 21) (529) (4,322)
Loss on valuation of investments in securities (687) (5,613)
Foreign exchange gain, net 543 4,437
Gain on equity method investments 653 5,335
Impairment loss on fixed assets (Note 7) (495) (4,044)
Other, net (494) (4,037)

7,034 57,472
Profit before income taxes 44,524 363,788

Income taxes:
Current 14,650 119,700
Deferred 95 776

14,745 120,476
Profit 29,779 243,312

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 3,090 25,247

Profit attributable to owners of parent (Note 31) ¥ 26,689 $ 218,065

Yen U.S. dollars
Per share: (Note 31)

Earnings per share ¥ 94.73 $ 0.77

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.
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INFRONEER Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen)
(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(Note 3)

Profit ¥ 29,779 $ 243,312

Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized loss on investments in securities (11,080) (90,530)
Deferred gains or losses on hedges 47 384
Foreign currency translation adjustments (72) (588)
Retirement benefits liability adjustments 1,322 10,802
Share of other comprehensive income of companies accounted  

for by equity method 43 351

Total other comprehensive loss (Note 23) (9,740) (79,581)
Total comprehensive income ¥ 20,039 $ 163,731

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of parent ¥ 17,029 $ 139,137
Non-controlling interests 3,010 24,594

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.
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INFRONEER Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

(Millions of yen)

Shareholders’ equity

Common
stock

Additional paid-
in

capital

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
stock, at cost

Total 
shareholders’

equity

Balance at April 1, 2021 ¥ 28,463 ¥ 37,550 ¥ 178,526 ¥ (2,833) ¥ 241,706

Cumulative effects of 
changes in accounting 
policies

(177) (177)

Restated balance 28,463 37,550 178,349 (2,833) 241,529

Changes during the year:

Cash dividends paid at ¥38.0 
per share (7,144) (7,144)

Profit attributable to owners 
of parent 26,689 26,689

Acquisition of treasury stock (22,407) (22,407)

Disposal of treasury stock 590 0 1,374 1,964

Cancellation of treasury stock (97,783) (141) 97,924 - 

Change in equity attributable 
to parent arising from 
transactions with  
non-controlling interests

(79) 0 (79)

Change in scope of 
consolidation (27) 521 494

Increase by share transfers (8,463) 193,866 (98,401) 87,002

Net changes other than 
shareholders’ equity

Total changes during the year (8,463) 96,567 19,925 (21,510) 86,519

Balance at March 31, 2022 ¥ 20,000 ¥ 134,117 ¥ 198,274 ¥ (24,343) ¥ 328,048
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(Millions of yen)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Non-
controlling
interests

Total
net

assets

Unrealized
gain on

investments
in securities

Deferred
gains or 

losses on 
hedges

Foreign
currency

translation
adjustments

Retirement
benefits
liability

adjustments

Total
accumulated

other
comprehensive 

income

Balance at April 1, 2021 ¥ 29,218 ¥ (20) ¥ 2 ¥ (883) ¥ 28,317 ¥ 97,505 ¥ 367,528

Cumulative effects of 
changes in accounting 
policies

(177)

Restated balance 29,218 (20) 2 (883) 28,317 97,505 367,351

Changes during the year:

Cash dividends paid at 
¥38.0 per share (7,144)

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent 26,689 

Acquisition of treasury 
stock (22,407)

Disposal of treasury 
stock 1,964 

Cancellation of treasury 
stock —

Change in equity 
attributable to parent 
arising from 
transactions with 
non-controlling 
interests

(79)

Change in scope of 
consolidation 494

Increase by share 
transfers 87,002

Net changes other than 
shareholders’ equity (10,943) 24 (98) 1,563 (9,454) (88,551) (98,005)

Total changes during the 
year (10,943) 24 (98) 1,563 (9,454) (88,551) (11,486)

Balance at March 31, 
2022 ¥ 18,275 ¥ 4 ¥ (96) ¥ 680 ¥ 18,863 ¥ 8,954 ¥ 355,865

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.
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(Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 3)

Shareholders’ equity

Common
stock

Additional paid-
in

capital

Retained 
earnings

Treasury
stock, at cost

Total 
shareholders’

equity

Balance at April 1, 2021 $ 232,560 $ 306,806 $ 1,458,665 $ (23,147) $ 1,974,884 

Cumulative effects of changes 
in accounting policies (1,446) (1,446)

Restated balance 232,560 306,806 1,457,219 (23,147) 1,973,438

Changes during the year:

Cash dividends paid at $0.31 
per share (58,371) (58,371)

Profit attributable to owners 
of parent 218,065 218,065 

Acquisition of treasury stock (183,079) (183,079)

Disposal of treasury stock 4,821 0 11,226 16,047

Cancellation of treasury stock (798,946) (1,152) 800,098 —

Change in equity attributable 
to parent arising from 
transactions with  
non-controlling interests

(645) 0 (645)

Change in scope of 
consolidation (221) 4,257 4,036

Increase by share transfers (69,148) 1,584,002 (803,995) 710,859

Net changes other than 
shareholders’ equity

Total changes during the year (69,148) 789,011 162,799 (175,750) 706,912

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 163,412 $ 1,095,817 $ 1,620,018 $ (198,897) $ 2,680,350 



8

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)
(Note 3)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Non-
controlling
interests

Total
net

assets

Unrealized
gain on

investments
in securities

Deferred
gains or 

losses on 
hedges

Foreign
currency

translation
adjustments

Retirement
benefits
liability

adjustments

Total
accumulated

other
comprehensive 

income

Balance at April 1, 2021 $ 238,728 $ (163) $ 17 $ (7,215) $ 231,367 $ 796,674 $ 3,002,925 

Cumulative effects of 
changes in accounting 
policies

(1,446)

Restated balance 238,728 (163) 17 (7,215) 231,367 796,674 3,001,479

Changes during the year:

Cash dividends paid at 
$0.31 per share

(58,371)

Profit attributable to 
owners of parent

218,065

Acquisition of treasury 
stock

(183,079)

Disposal of treasury 
stock

16,047 

Cancellation of treasury 
stock

— 

Change in equity 
attributable to parent
arising from 
transactions with  
non-controlling interests

(645)

Change in scope of 
consolidation

4,036

Increase by share 
transfers

710,859

Net changes other than 
shareholders’ equity

(89,411) 196 (801) 12,771 (77,245) (723,514) (800,759)

Total changes during the 
year

(89,411) 196 (801) 12,771 (77,245) (723,514) (93,847)

Balance at March 31, 
2022 $ 149,317 $ 33 $ (784) $ 5,556 $ 154,122 $ 73,160 $ 2,907,632

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.
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INFRONEER Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen)
(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(Note 3)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Profit before income taxes ¥ 44,524 $ 363,788 
Depreciation 24,890 203,366
Impairment loss on fixed assets 495 4,044
Amortization of goodwill 6,748 55,135
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts 85 695
Increase (decrease) in provision for loss on construction contracts 206 1,683
Increase (decrease) in liability for retirement benefits (2,986) (24,397)
Interest and dividend income (2,475) (20,222)
Interest expenses 2,572 21,015
Foreign exchange gain (170) (1,389)
Gain on equity method investment (653) (5,335)
Loss (gain) on sales of short-term and long-term investment securities (7,808) (63,796)
Loss (gain) on valuation of short-term and long-term investment securities 687 5,613
Loss (gain) on sale of fixed assets (309) (2,525)
Loss on retirement of fixed assets 529 4,322
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables (41,622) (340,077)
Decrease (increase) in construction work in progress (1,238) (10,115) 
Decrease (increase) in other inventories (288) (2,353)
Decrease (increase) in consumption tax receivables 1,391 11,365
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 123 1,005
Increase (decrease) in advances on construction work in progress (2,119) (17,313)
Increase (decrease) in deposits (20,841) (170,284)
Other (2,949) (24,095)

Sub-total (1,208) (9,870)
Receipt of interest and dividend income 3,132 25,590
Payment of interest expenses (2,286) (18,678)
Payment of income taxes (15,971) (130,492)

Cash flows used in operating activities (16,333) (133,450)
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For the year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen)
(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(Note 3)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment and intangible assets (21,698) (177,286)
Acquisition of concession-based private finance initiative right (4,168) (34,055)
Acquisition of replacement investment in concession-based private 
finance initiative (1,677) (13,702)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment and intangible assets 686 5,605
Acquisition of investments in securities (4,551) (37,184)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of investments in securities 11,018 90,024
Acquisition of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates (3,311) (27,053)
Lending of long-term loans receivable (21) (172)
Collection of long-term loans receivable 705 5,760
Other 469 3,832

Cash flows used in investing activities (22,548) (184,231)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Net increase (decrease) in short-term loans 72,490 592,287
Repayment of long-term loans (21,894) (178,887)
Repayment of non-recourse loans (1,314) (10,736)
Repayment of bonds (5,000) (40,853)
Payment of finance lease obligations (434) (3,546)
Proceeds from sale of treasury stocks 1,691 13,816
Acquisition of treasury stock (17,877) (146,066)
Payment of cash dividends (7,144) (58,371)
Payment of cash dividends to non-controlling shareholders (5,304) (43,337)
Proceeds from sale of shares of subsidiaries not resulting in change in 
scope of consolidation 160 1,307

Others (86) (702)
Cash flows provided by financing activities 15,288 124,912

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash 
equivalents 163 1,332

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (23,430) (191,437)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 98,976 808,694
Increase due to inclusion in consolidation 472 3,856
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 25) ¥ 76,018 $ 621,113

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statements.
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INFRONEER Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presenting Consolidated Financial Statements
(1) Accounting principles and presentation

INFRONEER Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) was established on October 1, 2021, as a wholly owning 
parent company of Maeda Corporation, Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. and Maeda Seisakusho Co., Ltd. 
by means of a joint share transfer.

The Company, the wholly owning parent company established through the joint share transfer, has taken 
over the consolidated financial statements of the former parent company, Maeda Corporation, which 
became a wholly owned subsidiary through the share transfer. Therefore, although the first fiscal year of 
the Company is from October 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022, the consolidated fiscal year is from April 1, 2021 
to March 31, 2022.

Comparative information is not presented in the consolidated financial statements as the current fiscal year 
is the initial year for which the Company has prepared its consolidated financial statements.

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”) maintain their books of account in conformity 
with the financial accounting standards of Japan, and its foreign subsidiaries maintain their books of 
account in conformity with those countries of domicile.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the application and 
disclosure requirements of IFRS, and have been compiled from the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by the Company as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.

Certain reclassifications have been made to present the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
in a format which is familiar to readers outside Japan.

(2) Scope of consolidation

The Company has fifty-eight (58) subsidiaries (“controlled companies”, wherein the decision-making body 
of entity is controlled) as of March 31, 2022. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of the Company and twenty-seven (27) significant subsidiaries, controlled directly or indirectly 
by the Company, as listed below:
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Consolidated subsidiaries:
March 31, 2022

Name of subsidiary Segment
(Main business)

Equity 
ownership
percentage

Common stock

(Millions
of yen)

(Thousands
of U.S. 
dollars)

Maeda Corporation Building and Civil 
Engineering 

100.0%
*{—} ¥ 28,463 $ 232,560

Maeda Road
Construction Co., Ltd Road Civil Engineering 100.0%

*{—} 19,351 158,109

Maeda Seisakusho Co., 
Ltd. Machinery 100.0%

*{—} 3,160 25,819

Aichi Road Concession 
Co., Ltd.

Infrastructure Operation
(Maintenance and 

management of roads)

50.0
*{50.0} 480 3,922

Anonymous Association-
Aichi Road Concession

Infrastructure Operation
(Maintenance and 

management of roads)

—
*{—} — —

JM Corporation Other
(Building)

100.0
*{100.0} 350 2,860

Fujimi Koken Co., Ltd.
Other

(Production and sales of 
construction materials)

50.0
*{50.0}

**[33.3]
250 2,043

FBS Co., Ltd. Other
(Building)

75.0
*{75.0}

**[25.0]
100 817

Thai Maeda Corporation 
Ltd.

Other
(Building)

45.0
*{45.0}
**[4.0]

***20 601

Anonymous 
Association-Happo 
Wind Development

Infrastructure Operation
(Electricity generation and 

sales from wind power)

—
*{—} — —

17 other subsidiaries

*	� The corresponding figures represent the indirect ownership percentage included in “Equity ownership 
percentage.”

**	� The corresponding figure represents the ownership percentage of those closely related or with ties to 
the Company not included in “Equity ownership percentage.”

***	� The amount is presented as millions of Thai Baht.

Note: 	� Effective from the current fiscal year, Neox Inc. and Sun Network Maeda Co., Ltd., which were 
non-consolidated subsidiaries, are included in the scope of consolidation due to their increased 
materiality. In addition, Anonymous Association-Goyozan Solar Power and Anonymous Association-
Mine Solar Power, which had been consolidated subsidiaries, were excluded from the scope of 
consolidation due to the sale of equity interest in anonymous associations.

The accounts of the other thirty-one (31) subsidiaries have not been consolidated with the Company 
because of the insignificant amount of total assets, net sales, net profit, and retained earnings, but one (1) 
of the non-consolidated subsidiaries is accounted for by the equity method.
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(3) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

As of March 31, 2022, the Company has twenty-four (24) affiliates (“influenced companies” wherein the 
financial and operating or business decision-making body of an entity that is not a subsidiary can be 
influenced to a material degree).

Investments in one (1) non-consolidated subsidiary and five (5) affiliates are accounted for by the equity 
method, under which the Company’s equity in the net profit of these affiliates is included in consolidated 
profit with appropriate elimination of inter-company profit as of March 31, 2022, and for the year then 
ended. The remaining investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates are stated at cost since 
the investments do not have a material effect on consolidated net profit and retained earnings in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Major non-consolidated subsidiary accounted for by the equity method;
J. CITY Corporation

Major affiliates accounted for by the equity method;
Toyo Construction Co., Ltd.

Major non-consolidated subsidiary not accounted for by the equity method;
Chiba City Consumer Life PFI Service Co., Ltd.

Major affiliate not accounted for by the equity method;
Toyota City Eastern School Lunch Center Co., Ltd

(4) Fiscal year of consolidated subsidiaries

Of the consolidated subsidiaries, Maeda Pacific Corporation has a fiscal year ending December 31. 
Therefore, in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements for the subsidiary’s 
fiscal year are used, and necessary adjustments are made for significant transactions that occurred between 
the end of subsidiary’s fiscal year and the end of fiscal year for the consolidated financial statements.
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2. 	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(1) Recognition of revenues and expenses

The Group applies the “Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ Statement No. 29, March 
31, 2020) and the “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 30, March 26, 2021) and recognizes revenue based on the following five-step approach.

Step 1.	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2.	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3.	 Determine the transaction price

Step 4.	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

Step 5.	 Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The identification of performance obligations and the point in time at which revenue is recognized in the 
Group’s principal operations are as follows.

1) Revenue recognition with regard to construction work

The Group enters into construction contracts with customers, mainly in the civil engineering, building, 
and road civil engineering businesses, to construct buildings or structures and to perform the related 
services. The Group identifies the work it performs with respect to these contracts as performance 
obligations.
For construction contracts for which the progress toward satisfying performance obligations can be 
reasonably estimated, the percentage of completion is estimated by the input method based on the 
cost incurred, and revenue is recognized over a period of time as the performance obligation to transfer 
goods or services to the customer is satisfied. Except for the initial stages of a contract, revenue is 
recognized on a cost recovery basis for construction projects for which the progress of completion 
cannot be reasonably estimated.
For construction contracts with a very short period of time between the transaction commencement 
date and the point in time when the performance obligation is expected to be fully satisfied, revenue is 
recognized when the performance obligation is fully satisfied.
For construction projects that require a long period of time from the satisfaction of performance 
obligations to the receipt of consideration from the customer and for which a significant financing 
component is recognized, an adjustment shall be made for the portion that corresponds to financial 
income.

2) �Revenue recognition with regard to sales of merchandise, product 
manufacturing, and sales

The Group manufactures and sells asphalt mixture, emulsion, and other construction materials in the 
road civil engineering business, and sells construction equipment products and manufactures and sells 
industrial machinery and other equipment in the machinery business. The Group recognizes the work 
it performs with respect to these as performance obligations.
For the sale of these goods and products, the Group recognizes revenue at the time of their delivery of 
the goods or products because control is transferred to the customer and the performance obligation 
is satisfied when the goods or products are delivered to the customer.
The Group does not recognize a significant financing component because the consideration is generally 
received within approximately one year of satisfaction of the performance obligation.

3) Revenue recognition with regard to renewable energy and concession businesses

In the infrastructure management business, the Group sells electricity from renewable energy sources 
and maintains, manages, and operates public facilities for which the Group holds operating rights. 
In these businesses, revenue is recognized at a point in time because the performance obligation is 
satisfied when the services are rendered to the customer.
The Group does not recognize a significant financing component because the consideration is generally 
received within approximately one year of satisfaction of the performance obligation.
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(2) Financial instruments

1) Securities

Bonds held to maturity: Stated using the amortized cost method (straight-line method)
Available-for-sale securities:

Securities other than shares, etc. that do not have a market price:
Stated at fair value (Net unrealized gains or losses on these securities are reported as a separate 
item in net assets at a net-of-tax amount, and sales costs are calculated based on the moving 
average method).

Shares, etc. that do not have a market price: Stated mainly at cost using the moving-average method.

2) Derivatives and hedge accounting

Stated at fair value except those accounted for under deferred hedge accounting.
Hedge accounting:

i)	 Method of hedge accounting
Deferred hedge accounting is applied. Forward foreign exchange contracts that qualify for hedge 
accounting are accounted for using the allocation method, and interest rate swaps that meet 
the requirements for exceptional treatment are accounted for using the exceptional accounting 
treatment.

ii)	 Hedging instruments and hedged items
Hedging instruments:	� Derivative transactions (interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange 

contracts)
Hedged items:	� Assets or liabilities with potential losses due to market fluctuations, etc., for which 

cash flows are fixed and fluctuations are avoided.

iii)	Hedging policy
The purpose is to avoid the risk of future fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

iv)	Assessment of hedge effectiveness
The cumulative cash flow fluctuation of the hedged items and the hedging instruments are 
compared for the respective past periods.

(3) Inventories

Costs on uncompleted construction contracts are stated at the specific identification cost.
Real estate held for sale, merchandise and finished products, project costs for development and others 
and materials in stock are stated at the specific identification cost (method of writing down the book value 
when the profitability declines). Certain consolidated subsidiaries state materials in stock at cost using the 
last purchase price method (method of writing down the book value when the profitability declines).

(4) Property and equipment (except leased assets) 

Depreciation of property and equipment (except leased assets) is determined by the declining-balance 
method. However, the straight-line method is applied to buildings (except facilities attached to buildings) 
acquired on or after April 1, 1998 and facilities attached to buildings and structures acquired on or after 
April 1, 2016.

Useful lives and residual values of property and equipment are in accordance with the Corporation Tax 
Act of Japan.

Certain assets of consolidated subsidiaries are depreciated using either the straight-line method or the 
units-of-production method. The useful life of assets depreciated using the straight-line method is based 
on their economic useful life.

(5) Intangible fixed assets (except leased assets) and long-term prepaid expense

The straight-line method is applied. Rights to operate public facilities and assets related to replacement 
investment to operate public facilities are amortized using the units-of-production method. Software for 
internal use is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life (5 years).
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(6) Leased assets

Leased assets related to finance leases that transfer ownership of the leased assets to the lessee are 
depreciated using the same depreciation method as that applied to owned fixed assets. Leased assets 
related to finance leases that do not transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee are fully 
depreciated with a residual value of zero using the straight-line method over the lease term.

(7) Deferred assets

Bond issuance expenses and business commencement expenses:
Bond issuance expenses are fully amortized at the time of expenditure.
Business commencement expenses are amortized using the straight-line method over 5 years.

(8) Allowance for doubtful accounts

To provide for losses due to bad debt, an allowance is provided for general receivables based on historical 
bad debt ratios, and for specific doubtful receivables based on individual assessments of collectability.

(9) Provision for repairs and warranty

To provide for major repairs of heavy machinery and equipment, a provision is provided for the estimated 
repair cost to be borne by the current fiscal year.

(10) Provision for bonuses for employees

To provide for the payment of bonuses to employees, a provision is provided for the portion of the estimated 
amount of bonuses to be paid, which is to be borne by the Company in the current fiscal year.

(11) Provision for bonuses for directors

To provide for the payment of bonuses to officers, a provision is provided for the estimated amount of 
bonuses to be paid in the current fiscal year.

(12) Provision for warranties for completed construction

To provide for expenses related to contractual non-conformities and other costs related to completed 
construction works, a provision is recorded based on actual results in a certain period of time in the past.

(13) Provision for loss on construction contracts

To provide for future losses on construction contracts, a provision is provided for estimated losses on 
construction contracts in progress at the end of the current fiscal year for which losses are expected and 
the amount of such losses can be reasonably estimated.

(14) Provision for share-based remuneration

To provide for future delivery of the Company’s shares to officers in accordance with the 
Regulations on Stock Benefits for Officers, a provision is provided for the estimated amount of stock 
benefit obligations as of the end of the current fiscal year.

(15) Accounting method for retirement benefits

1) Method of attributing estimated retirement benefits to periods

In calculating the retirement benefit obligation, the estimated amount of retirement benefits is attributed 
to the period up to the end of the current fiscal year based on the benefit formula method. Certain 
consolidated subsidiaries use the straight-line attribution method. 

2) Accounting method for actuarial gains or losses and prior service cost

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized by the straight-line method over a certain number of years (10 
to 15 years) within the average remaining service period of employees at the time of their occurrence, 
with each amount recognized as an expense starting from the following fiscal year.
Prior service cost is amortized by the straight-line method over a certain number of years (10 to 15 
years) within the average remaining service period of employees at the time the cost is incurred.
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3) Adoption of the simplified method by small enterprises, etc.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries adopt the simplified method for the calculation of liabilities for 
retirement benefits and retirement benefit expenses, using the retirement benefit amount required for 
voluntary termination at the end of the fiscal year as the retirement benefit obligation.

(16) Amortization of goodwill

Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years. In case the amount is not material, goodwill is 
expensed immediately.

(17) Scope of funds in the consolidated statement of cash flows

For the preparation of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
in hand, demand deposits, time deposits with maturities of three months or less, certificates of deposit, 
and commercial paper.

(18) Other policies

Accounting principles and procedures adopted in cases where the relevant accounting standards are not 
clearly defined

Accounting method for construction joint ventures (JV):
Assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses are recognized primarily in proportion to the percentage of 
the members’ investment.

(19) Significant accounting estimates

1) �Recognition of completed construction contracts for which revenue is 
recognized over a certain period of time

(a) Carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. 
dollars)

Completed construction contracts ¥ 354,779 $ 2,898,758

Other contracts 50,914 415,998

(b) Information on the nature of significant accounting estimates for identified items

i) 	 Calculation method
The Company applies the method of recognizing revenues over a certain period of time for 
construction projects for which the outcome is deemed certain and recognizes revenues for the 
portion of construction completed by the end of the current fiscal year after estimating the degree 
of completion for each construction project using the input method.

ii) 	�Key assumptions used in making the accounting estimates and the effect on the 
next year’s consolidated financial statements
The following key assumptions are used in the calculation of the amount of completed construction 
contracts based on the method of recognizing revenues over a certain period of time. The impact 
on the consolidated financial statements for the following fiscal year is as follows.

	 Total construction revenue
In the course of construction, there are cases in which a portion of total construction revenue 
is recorded based on estimates due to design changes agreed upon with the customer, etc., 
for which such consideration is not fixed in a timely manner (the portion of total construction 
revenue recorded based on such estimates is hereinafter referred to as “contract amount not yet 
contracted”). The contract amount not yet contracted is continually reviewed as the estimates may 
change due to the progress of negotiations with the client or the conclusion of a contract.
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	 Total construction costs
Total construction costs are continuously reviewed because construction projects are highly 
customized in terms of specifications and work content, and because changes in the construction 
period, unexpected costs, fluctuations in unit prices of construction materials and labor, and 
changes in design may occur during the course of construction.

As mentioned above, the recognition of construction revenue based on the method of recognizing 
revenue over a certain period of time requires estimates based on certain assumptions and 
involves uncertainty and the judgment of those responsible for the construction site and others. 
Therefore, changes in such assumptions and estimates may have a certain impact on the amount 
of completed construction contracts in the consolidated financial statements for the next fiscal 
year.

2) Valuation of goodwill

(a) Carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of  
U.S. dollars)

Goodwill ¥ 19,892 $ 162,530

(b) Information on the nature of significant accounting estimates for identified items

i) 	 Calculation method
Goodwill was recognized when Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. (hereinafter “Maeda Road”) 
became a subsidiary on March 19, 2020, and has been amortized based on a reasonable estimate 
of the period over which the goodwill will be effective.

ii) 	�Key assumptions used in making the accounting estimates and the effect on the 
next year’s consolidated financial statements
For goodwill resulting from business investments, the Group applied the “Accounting Standard 
for Impairment of Fixed Assets” (ASBJ Guidance No. 6, October 31, 2003) and the “Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets” (ASBJ Guidance No. 6, March 27, 2009). 
For the goodwill recognized when Maeda Road became a subsidiary, the Company grouped 
assets by road civil engineering business as a unit, and continuously checks whether there is 
any deviation from the assumptions made at the time of the investment decision to identify signs 
of impairment and to recognize and measure impairment losses. In the current fiscal year, due 
to the sharp rise in crude oil prices and other factors, the actual operating profit of Maeda Road 
fell below the operating profit in the business plan used to calculate the stock price at the time of 
acquisition to a certain extent, and the Company determined that there were signs of impairment 
and made a decision to recognize impairment loss.

Estimates of undiscounted future cash flows required in determining the recognition of impairment 
losses are based on the business plan approved by Maeda Road’s Board of Directors, and certain 
assumptions are made regarding future net sales and gross profit margins for construction work 
in the road civil engineering business, and future sales volumes and crude oil prices affecting unit 
selling prices and material costs for the manufacture and sale of asphalt mixture and other products. 
As a result of comparing the total amount of undiscounted future cash flows with the carrying 
amount, the Company determined that no impairment loss was required to be recognized in the 
current fiscal year because the total amount of such undiscounted future cash flows exceeded 
the carrying amount. If the undiscounted future cash flows were to fall below the carrying amount 
due to changes in assumptions for the relevant business plan, etc., an impairment loss may be 
recognized, and an impairment loss may be recognized in the consolidated financial statements 
in the following fiscal year or later.
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(20) Changes in accounting policies

Application of Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition, etc.

The “Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ Statement No. 29, March 31, 2020; hereinafter 
the “Revenue Recognition Standard”), etc., has been applied from the beginning of the current fiscal year, 
and revenue is recognized at the amount expected to be received in exchange for the promised goods or 
services when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Previously, the Group applied the percentage-of-completion method for construction projects for which the 
outcome of construction activity was deemed certain during the course of the activity, and the completed-
contract method for other projects. From the beginning of the current fiscal year, for construction projects for 
which the degree of completion pertaining to the satisfaction of performance obligations can be reasonably 
estimated, revenue is recognized over a certain period of time as the performance obligations are satisfied. 
To estimate the degree of completion pertaining to the satisfaction of performance obligations, the input 
method, which is based on the cost incurred, is primarily applied. Except for the initial stage of a contract, 
revenue is recognized on a cost recovery basis for construction projects for which the degree of completion 
pertaining to the satisfaction of performance obligations cannot be reasonably estimated but the costs 
incurred are expected to be recovered. For construction contracts with a very short period between the 
commencement date of the transaction in the contract and the date when the performance obligations are 
expected to be fully satisfied, revenue is recognized when the performance obligations are fully satisfied.
For the application of the Revenue Recognition Standard, etc., the Company has followed the transitional 
treatment prescribed in the proviso to Paragraph 84 of the Revenue Recognition Standard, and the 
cumulative effect of retroactively applying the new accounting policies prior to the beginning of the current 
fiscal year has been added to or deducted from retained earnings at the beginning of the current fiscal 
year, and the new accounting policies have been applied from the balance at the beginning of said period. 
However, the Company has applied the method prescribed in Paragraph 86 of the Revenue Recognition 
Standard and has not applied the new accounting policies retrospectively to contracts for which almost 
all revenue amounts were recognized in accordance with the previous treatment prior to the beginning 
of the current fiscal year. In addition, the Company has applied the method prescribed in Paragraph 86, 
Subparagraph 1 of the Revenue Recognition Standard to account for contract changes made prior to the 
beginning of the current fiscal year based on the contract terms after reflecting all contract changes, and 
has added or subtracted its cumulative effect to retained earnings at the beginning of the current fiscal year.
As a result, operating profit decreased by ¥35 million ($286 thousand), as net sales and cost of sales for the 
current fiscal year increased by ¥1,646 million ($13,449 thousand) and ¥1,681 million ($13,735 thousand), 
respectively. Due to an increase of ¥162 million ($1,324 thousand) in non-operating income, profit before 
income taxes increased by ¥127 million ($1,038 thousand). In addition, the balance of retained earnings at 
the beginning of the current period decreased by ¥178 million ($1,454 thousand).
The impact of this change on per-share information is immaterial.

Application of Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement, etc.

The “Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Statement No. 30, July 4, 2019; hereinafter 
the “Fair Value Measurement Standard”), etc., has been applied from the beginning of the current fiscal 
year, and the new accounting policies prescribed by the Fair Value Measurement Standard, etc., will be 
prospectively applied in accordance with the transitional treatment prescribed in Paragraph 19 of the Fair 
Value Measurement Standard and Paragraph 44-2 of the “Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments” 
(ASBJ Statement No. 10, July 4, 2019). The effect of the application of the Fair Value Measurement 
Standard, etc., on the consolidated financial statements is immaterial.
In addition, the Company includes notes on fair value information by level within the fair value hierarchy in 
the notes on financial instruments.

(21) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

On June 17, 2021, the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (ASBJ) issued “Implementation Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31).

1) Overview

The treatment of calculation of fair value of investment trusts and related notes and the treatment of 
notes to fair value of investments in partnerships, etc., in which the net amount equivalent to the equity 
interest is recorded on the balance sheet are established.
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2) Effective date 

The Company expects to apply the implementation guidance from the beginning of the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 2023.

3) Impact of application of the implementation guidance

The effect of the application of the implementation guidance is currently being evaluated.

(22) Additional information

Transactions to offer the Company’s shares to employees, etc. through trust

(a) Stock Benefit Trust Disposition-type Employee Stock Ownership Plan

The Company conducts transactions to offer the Company’s shares to the employee stock ownership 
plan through a trust, with the aim of enhancing the Company and Group employees’ benefits and 
providing incentives for those employees to increase the corporate value.
The Stock Benefit Trust Disposition-type Employee Stock Ownership Plan (hereinafter the “ESOP”), 
which was introduced at Maeda Corporation in March 2019, was terminated in the second quarter of 
the current fiscal year, as all Maeda Corporation shares held by the trust were sold.

1) Descriptions of transactions

In March 2022, the Company introduced the “ESOP”.
To initiate the ESOP, the Company concluded the “Stock Benefit Trust (Disposition-type ESOP) 
Agreement” (hereinafter the trust established pursuant to the agreement shall be referred to as 
the “ESOP Trust”), whereby the Company is to act as the administrator and the role of trustee is 
assigned to Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. (hereinafter the “Trustee”). In addition, an agreement 
was concluded under which the Trustee is to re-entrust shares of the Company and other assets 
of the ESOP Trust to an account with ancillary trustee, Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (hereinafter the 
“Trust Account E”). The Trust Account E acquires shares of the Company that the Maeda Corporation 
Employee Stock Holding Partnership, the Maeda Road Employee Stock Holding Partnership, and the 
Maeda Seisakusho Employee Stock Holding Partnership (hereinafter collectively the “Stock Holding 
Partnership”), is expected to obtain over a five-years period after the trust was set up, and periodically 
sells its holdings to the Stock Holding Partnership. If, by the time of the ESOP Trust’s termination, gains 
equivalent to capital gains on sales of shares are accumulated within the ESOP Trust through sales of 
Company’s shares by the Trust Account E to the Stock Holding Partnership, then those gains will be 
distributed as residual assets to Stock Holding Partnership enrollees that meet the requirements for 
eligible beneficiaries. Furthermore, to guarantee funds borrowed by the Trustee that enable the Trust 
Account E to acquire the Company’s shares, the Company is to repay any such remaining borrowings 
pursuant to a guarantee agreement, in the event there are any remaining borrowings equivalent to 
losses on sales of shares due to a downturn in the price of Company’s shares up until termination of 
the ESOP Trust.

2) Company’s shares remaining in trust

The Company’s shares remaining in trust are recorded as treasury stock in the part of net assets at the 
book value in trust (excluding the amount as ancillary expenses). The book value and number of shares 
of the relevant treasury stock are ¥4,502 million ($36,784 thousand) and 4,221 thousand shares as of 
March 31, 2022.

3) Book value of borrowings recorded using the gross method

Related borrowings amounted to ¥4,545 million ($37,135 thousand) as of March 31, 2022.

(b) Board Benefit Trust (BBT)

Maeda Corporation, a consolidated subsidiary, conducts transactions to offer the Company’s shares to 
directors (excluding outside directors) and executive officers (hereinafter collectively the “Directors”) of 
Maeda Corporation through trust, in order to clarify a linkage among the Directors’ rewards, the Maeda 
Corporation’s financial result, and the value of the stock, and to strengthen incentives to the Directors 
aiming to increase the corporate value for the purposes of sharing values with stockholders.
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1) Descriptions of transactions

Maeda Corporation introduced a performance-based stock compensation plan called “Board Benefit 
Trust” (hereinafter the “BBT”) by the resolution approved at the 74th general shareholders meeting held 
on June 21, 2019.
Under the BBT, in accordance with the Regulations on Stock Benefits for Officers (hereinafter the 
“Regulations”) stipulated by Maeda Corporation, points will be granted to the Directors according to the 
standards prescribed by Maeda Corporation based on the degree of achievement of business results, 
etc., and on a certain date immediately after the end of the medium-term management plan period, the 
Company’s shares will be granted to the Directors who satisfy the requirements for the beneficiaries set 
forth in the Regulations (hereinafter the “Beneficiaries”) in proportion to the number of points granted 
to the Beneficiaries. However, if the Beneficiaries satisfy the requirements set forth in the Regulations, 
cash equivalent to the fair value of the Company’s shares will be provided for a certain percentage of 
the points.

 2) Company’s shares remaining in trust

The Company’s shares remaining in trust are recorded as treasury stock in the consolidated balance 
sheet at the book value in trust (excluding the amount as ancillary expenses). The book value and 
number of shares of the relevant treasury stock are ¥549 million ($4,486 thousand) and 657 thousand 
shares as of March 31, 2022.

3.	 U.S. Dollar Amounts
The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for the convenience of readers 
outside Japan and has been made, as a matter of arithmetic computation only, at ¥122.39= U.S.$1.00, the 
approximate rate of exchange in effect on March 31, 2022. The translation should not be construed as a 
representation that yen have been, could have been, or could in the future be, converted into U.S. dollars at 
the above or any other rate.
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4.	 Financial Instruments
(1) Financial instruments

1) Policy for financial instruments

The Group raise funds mainly necessary for construction business according to its financial planning by 
means of borrowings from banks and bonds. Temporary surplus funds are managed by means of safe 
and secured financial instruments. The Group has a policy of utilizing derivative transactions in order to 
hedge its exposure to the risks mentioned below, but not for trading or speculative purposes.

2) Financial instruments, risks and risks management

Notes and accounts of trade receivables are exposed to the credit risks of the clients. The Group 
attempts to reduce the risks of disability or delay in collection of debt by the routine confirmation of the 
debt balances and examination of credit standing of each client in accordance with the project award 
control procedures, the accounting rules and other rules of the Group. 

Marketable securities and investments in securities include mainly the securities of subsidiaries, 
affiliates, and business partners. Marketable securities of the business partners are exposed to the 
stock market fluctuation risks, and the Group, examining the fair values and financial status of such 
companies, makes continuous review of the possession situation, by taking the market situation and 
the relationship with such companies into consideration.

Trade payables, electronically recorded monetary claims, and others as liabilities are to be paid mostly 
within one year. Certain foreign currency trade payables are exposed to the foreign exchange market 
fluctuation risks, but they are constantly maintained within the amount of the same foreign currency 
trade receivables. Forward foreign exchange contracts are utilized against the payment for part of the 
amount fixed by the long-term contract in order to hedge the exchange rate fluctuation risks.

Loans and bonds are utilized for the purpose of operating funds (mainly from short-term debt) and M&A, 
investments in facilities and others (mainly from long-term debt). Variable interest loans are exposed 
to interest rate fluctuation risks. Regarding part of long-term debt, interest rate swap transactions are 
utilized per each contract in order to hedge the interest rate fluctuation risks and fix interest payments. 

Liabilities related to right to operate public facilities are the accounts payable for rights to operate public 
facilities, etc. and they will be paid over the operating period. The accompanying interest payments are 
fixed.

Liquidity risks related to funding are managed through the timely preparation and updating of funding 
plans by the department in charge based on reports from each department, as well as by maintaining 
the funding liquidity in hand. The Cash Management System (CMS) is operated among the consolidated 
subsidiaries and affiliates in order to promote mutual exploitation of surplus funds within the Group. 
It enhances efficiency of funding, and is useful for the maintenance and management of the funding 
liquidity in hand.

The derivative transactions are conducted and managed in accordance with the Group’s regulations for 
authority for approval, and such transactions are conducted only with highly-rated financial institutions 
in order to reduce the credit risks. The explanation for hedging instruments, hedged items, policy for 
hedge accounting and evaluation of effectiveness of hedging activities are provided in aforementioned 
“2) Derivatives and hedge accounting” of “(2) Financial instruments” in Note “2. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies.”

3) Supplemental explanation on fair value of financial instruments

The measurement of fair values of financial instruments are based on the fair market value. The financial 
instruments without market value are evaluated by reasonable assessment. Such evaluations based on 
variable factors may change in line with the adoption of new assumptions.
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(2) Fair value of financial instruments

Book value on the consolidated balance sheet and fair value of financial instruments and their differences 
as of March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022
Book value Fair value Difference

(a) Trade receivables ¥ 310,802 ¥ 310,780 ¥ (22)
(b) Marketable securities and investments in securities 97,593 106,295 8,702

Total assets ¥ 408,395 ¥ 417,075 ¥ 8,680

(a) Corporate bonds ¥ 45,000 ¥ 44,710 ¥ (290)
(b) Long-term loans 52,852 52,936 84
(c) Long-term non-recourse loans 9,947 9,942 (5)
(d) Liabilities related to right to operate public 

facilities (long-term liabilities) 103,844 114,850 11,006

Total liabilities ¥ 211,643 ¥ 222,438 ¥ 10,795

(a) Derivative transactions ¥ 7 ¥ 7 ¥ —

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

March 31, 2022
Book value Fair value Difference

(a) Trade receivables $ 2,539,440 $ 2,539,260 $ (180)
(b) Marketable securities and investments in securities 797,394 868,494 71,100

Total assets $ 3,336,834 $ 3,407,754 $ 70,920

(a) Corporate bonds $ 367,677 $ 365,308 $ (2,369)
(b) Long-term loans 431,833 432,519 686
(c) Long-term non-recourse loans 81,273 81,232 (41)
(d) Liabilities related to right to operate public 

facilities (long-term liabilities) 848,468 938,394 89,926

Total liabilities $ 1,729,251 $ 1,817,453 $ 88,202

(a) Derivative transactions $ 57 $ 57 $ —

Notes:	 1.	� Notes to “Cash and time deposits,” “Electronically recorded monetary claims,” “Trade 
payables,” “Current portion of long-term non-recourse loans,” and “Liabilities related to right 
to operate public facilities (current liabilities)” are omitted because they are in cash and their 
fair values approximate their book values due to their short maturities.

	 2.	� Stocks without market prices and investments in partnerships are not included in “(b) 
Marketable securities and investments in securities.” The book value of such financial 
instruments on the consolidated balance sheet are as follows.

(Millions of 
yen)

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)

Stocks, etc. without market prices ¥ 18,058 $ 147,545
Investments in partnerships, etc.* 4,502 36,784

* �Investments in partnerships, etc. are mainly investments in silent partnerships, investments 
in investment partnerships, and preferred securities to special purpose companies. In 
accordance with Paragraph 27 of the “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, July 4, 2019, hereinafter referred to as the 
“Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement”), they are not 
subject to disclosure of fair value.
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	 3.	� The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown at net value, and with the 
amount in parentheses representing net liability position.

	 4.	� Repayment schedule of monetary receivables, marketable securities and investments in 
securities with maturities after the consolidated balance sheet date

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022

Within
1 year

Over 1 year
within 5 

years

Over 5 years
within 10 

years

Over
10 years

(1) Cash and time deposits ¥ 77,777 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —

(2) Trade receivables –
Notes and accounts 276,937 33,711 100 55

(3) Marketable securities and 
investments in securities:
Held-to-maturity securities

Corporate bonds 30 — — —

Available-for-sale securities w/
maturities

National/Municipal bonds — — 20 —

Corporate bonds — 30 84 —

Total ¥ 354,744 ¥ 33,741 ¥ 204 ¥ 55

(Thousands of U.S dollars)

March 31, 2022

Within
1 year

Over 1 year
within 5 

years

Over 5 years
within 10 

years

Over
10 years

(1) Cash and time deposits $ 635,485 $ — $ — $ —

(2) Trade receivables –
Notes and accounts 2,262,742 275,439 817 449

(3) Marketable securities and 
investments in securities:

Held-to-maturity securities

Corporate bonds 245 — — —

Available-for-sale securities w/
maturities

National/Municipal bonds — — 163 —

Corporate bonds — 245 686 —

Total $ 2,898,472 $ 275,684 $ 1,666 $ 449

	 5.	� Repayment schedule of corporate bonds, long-term debt and lease obligations after the 
consolidated balance sheet date

		��  Repayment schedule of corporate bonds, long-term loans and lease obligations after the 
consolidated balance sheet date is presented in “9. Short-Term Debt, Long-Term Debt and 
Lease Obligations.”
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(3) Fair value information by level within the fair value hierarchy

The fair value of financial instruments is classified into the following three levels according to the observability 
and materiality of inputs used to measure fair value.

Level 1 fair value:	� Fair value measured using observable inputs, i.e. quoted prices in active markets for 
assets or liabilities that are the subject of the measurement.

Level 2 fair value: 	� Fair value measured using observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs.

Level 3 fair value: 	�� Fair value measured using unobservable inputs.
	� If multiple inputs are used that are significant to the fair value measurement, the fair 

value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the level of the lowest level input 
that is significant to the entire measurement.

1) Financial instruments measured at fair value

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Marketable securities and investments 
in securities:

Available-for-sale securities 
Stocks ¥ 91,280 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 91,280
National bonds 20 — — 20
Corporate bonds — — 31 31
Investment trust — 176 — 176

Derivative transactions:
Interest rate related — 7 — 7

Total assets ¥ 91,300 ¥ 183 ¥ 31 ¥ 91,514

(Thousands of U.S dollars)

March 31, 2022
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Marketable securities and investments 
in securities:

Available-for-sale securities 
Stocks $ 745,813 $ — $ — $ 745,813
National bonds 163 — — 163
Corporate bonds — — 253 253
Investment trust — 1,438 — 1,438

Derivative transactions:
Interest rate related — 57 — 57

Total assets $ 745,976 $ 1,495 $ 253 $ 747,724
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2) Financial instruments other than those measured at fair value

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Trade receivables –

Notes and accounts ¥ — ¥ 310,780 ¥ — ¥ 310,780

Marketable securities and investments 
in securities:

Shares of subsidiaries and 
affiliates 14,762 — — 14,762

Held-to-maturity securities
Investment trust — 27 — 27

Total assets ¥ 14,762 ¥ 310,807 ¥ — ¥ 325,569
Corporate bonds ¥ — ¥ 44,709 ¥ — ¥ 44,709
Long-term loans — 52,936 — 52,936
Non-recourse loans — 9,943 — 9,943
Liabilities related to right to operate 

public facilities (long-term liabilities) — 114,850 — 114,850

Total liabilities ¥ — ¥ 222,438 ¥ — ¥ 222,438

(Thousands of U.S dollars)

March 31, 2022
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Trade receivables –

Notes and accounts $ — $ 2,539,260 $ — $ 2,539,260

Marketable securities and investments 
in securities:

Shares of subsidiaries and 
affiliates 120,614 — — 120,614

Held-to-maturity securities
Investment trust — 220 — 220

Total assets $ 120,614 $ 2,539,480 $ — $ 2,660,094
Corporate bonds $ — $ 365,299 $ — $ 365,299
Long-term loans — 432,519 — 432,519
Non-recourse loans — 81,240 — 81,240
Liabilities related to right to operate 

public facilities (long-term liabilities) — 938,394 — 938,394

Total liabilities $ — $ 1,817,452 $ — $ 1,817,452

Notes: 	 1.	�A description of the valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value measurements
		  �Trade receivables –Notes and accounts
		�  The fair value of these receivables is calculated based on the interest rate for each receivable 

classified by a certain period of time, taking into account the period until maturity and 
credit risk, and is classified as Level 2 fair value.

		�  Marketable securities and investments in securities
		�  Listed stocks and national bonds are valued using quoted market prices. Since listed 

stocks and national bonds are traded in active markets, their fair value is classified as 
Level 1 fair value. On the other hand, private placement bonds held by the Company are 
classified as Level 3 fair value because the discount rate is unobservable. In principle, 
the fair value of private placement bonds is calculated by discounting the total amount 
of principal and interest by the discount rate that incorporates credit risk and other risk 
factors for each category and each coverage ratio based on internal ratings. The fair value 
of investment trusts is calculated based on the prices provided by correspondent financial 
institutions and is classified as Level 2 fair value.
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		  �Corporate bonds
		�  The fair value of the bonds issued by the Company is based on market prices. The fair 

value of the corporate bonds is classified as Level 2 fair value because the corporate 
bonds have market prices but are not traded in an active market.

		  �Long-term loans and non-recourse loans
		�  The fair value of these loans is calculated by discounting the total amount of principal and 

interest at the interest rate that would be applicable to a similar new loan, and is classified 
as Level 2 fair value.

		  �Liabilities related to right to operate public facilities (long-term liabilities)
		�  The fair value of these liabilities is calculated by discounting future cash flows by a 

reasonable interest rate based on the yield of national bonds, according to the scheduled 
payment period, and is classified as Level 2 fair value.

		�  Derivative transactions
		�  The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated based on the price quoted by the 

counterparty financial institutions and is classified as Level 2 fair value.

	� 2.	Information about Level 3 fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value
		�  Note is omitted due to the immateriality of the financial instruments classified as Level 3.
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5. 	 Fair Value Information on Marketable Securities and Investments in Securities
Fair value information on marketable securities and investments in securities as of March 31, 2022 is summarized 
as follows:

(1) Held-to-maturity securities

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022

Book value Fair value Unrealized
gain (loss)

Securities with fair value that exceeds book value

Corporate bonds, etc. ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —

Securities with fair value that does not exceed book value

Corporate bonds, etc. 30 27 (3)

Total ¥ 30 ¥ 27 ¥ (3)

(Thousands of U.S dollars)

March 31, 2022

Book value Fair value Unrealized
gain (loss)

Securities with fair value that exceeds book value

Corporate bonds, etc. $ — $ — $ —

Securities with fair value that does not exceed book value

Corporate bonds, etc. 245 221 (24)

Total $ 245 $ 221 $ (24)



29

(2) Available-for-sale securities

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022

Book value Acquisition
cost

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Securities with book value that exceeds acquisition cost
Stocks ¥ 80,308 ¥ 48,406 ¥ 31,902
Bonds

National/ Municipal bonds 20 20 0
Other 31 30 1

Other 109 97 12
Sub-total ¥ 80,468 ¥ 48,553 ¥ 31,915

Securities with book value that does not exceed acquisition 
cost

Stocks ¥ 10,971 ¥ 12,236 ¥ (1,264)
Bonds

National/ Municipal bonds — — —
Other 0 0 —

Other 68 84 (17)
Sub-total ¥ 11,039 ¥ 12,320 ¥ (1,281)

Total ¥ 91,507 ¥ 60,873 ¥ 30,634

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

March 31, 2022

Book value Acquisition 
cost

Unrealized
gain (loss)

Securities with book value that exceeds acquisition cost
Stocks $ 656,165 $ 395,506 $ 260,659
Bonds

National/ Municipal bonds 163 163 0
Other 253 245 8

Other 891 793 98
Sub-total $ 657,472 $ 396,707 $ 260,765

Securities with book value that does not exceed acquisition 
cost

Stocks $ 89,640 $ 99,975 $ (10,328)
Bonds

National/ Municipal bonds — — —
Other 0 0 —

Other 555 687 (139)
Sub-total $ 90,195 $ 100,662 $ (10,467)

Total $ 747,667 $ 497,369 $ 250,298



30

(3) Gains and losses on sale of available-for-sale securities

(Millions of yen)

Year ended March 31, 2022
Proceeds 
from sale

Gain 
on sale

Loss 
on sale

Stocks ¥ 11,018 ¥ 7,808 ¥ 0

Bonds

National/ Municipal bonds — — —

Other — — —

Other — — —

Total ¥ 11,018 ¥ 7,808 ¥ 0

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Year ended March 31, 2022
Proceeds 
from sale

Gain 
on sale

Loss 
on sale

Stocks $ 90,024 $ 63,796 $ 0

Bonds

National/ Municipal bonds — — —

Other — — —

Other — — —

Total $ 90,024 $ 63,796 $ 0

(4) Impairment loss on securities

Impairment loss on marketable securities (in available-for-sale securities) amounted to ¥687 million ($5,613 
thousand) for the year ended March 31, 2022.

(5) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of 
yen)

(Thousands 
of

U.S. dollars)

Investment securities (stocks) ¥ 22,000 $ 179,753
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6. Derivative Transactions

(1) Derivative transactions not subject to hedge accounting

For the year ended March 31, 2022: Not applicable

(2) Derivative transactions subject to hedge accounting

Currency-related transactions
For the year ended March 31, 2022: Not applicable

Interest rate-related transactions
(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022
Hedge 

accounting 
method

Type
Main 

hedged 
item

Contracted 
value

Contracted 
value 

over 1 year
Fair value

Exceptional 
accounting 
treatment 
for interest rate 
swaps

Interest rate swap 
transactions
-variable interest 
received and
fixed interest paid

Long-term 
loans ¥34,420 ¥26,404 (Note)

Deferred hedge 
accounting

Interest rate swap 
transactions
-variable interest 
received and
fixed interest paid

Non-
recourse

loans
¥5,662 ¥4,816 ¥7

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)
March 31, 2022

Hedge 
accounting 

method
Type

Main 
hedged 

item

Contracted 
value

Contracted 
value 

over 1 year
Fair value

Exceptional 
accounting 
treatment 
for interest rate 
swaps

Interest rate swap 
transactions
-variable interest 
received and
fixed interest paid

Long-term 
loans $281,232 $215,737 (Note)

Deferred hedge 
accounting

Interest rate swap 
transactions
-variable interest 
received and
fixed interest paid

Non-
recourse

loans
$46,262 $39,350 $57

Note: 	� The fair value of interest rate swaps that qualify for exceptional accounting treatment is included 
in the fair value of the relevant long-term loans because they are accounted for as an integral part 
of the long-term loans that are hedged.
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7.	 Impairment Loss on Fixed Assets
Impairment losses on fixed assets for the year ended March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of 
yen)

(Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Location Type of assets Use

Shizuoka
Land, building and structure, machinery 
and equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture 
and fixtures

For business use ¥ 331 $ 2,704

Tokyo
Building and structure, machinery and 
equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture and 
fixtures

For rent and other 85 695

Chiba Building and structure For business use 30 245

Fukushima
Building and structure, machinery and 
equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture and 
fixtures

For business use 20 163

Shimane
Land, building and structure, machinery 
and equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture 
and fixtures

For business use 17 139

Akita, etc.
Land, building and structure, machinery 
and equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture 
and fixtures

For business use, 
etc. 13 106

Fixed assets for business use are grouped by business office, and fixed assets for rent, golf courses and the 
fixed assets to be disposed are grouped based on an individual asset basis.

Due to a decline in profitability of business assets, etc., the book value of the following assets was reduced to 
the recoverable amount, and the amount of the reduction was recorded as an impairment loss of ¥495 million 
($4,044 thousand) under other expenses.

The major breakdown is ¥208 million ($1,699 thousand) for buildings and structures, ¥280 million ($2,288 
thousand) for machinery and equipment, vehicles, and tools, furniture and fixtures, and ¥7 million ($57 
thousand) for land.

The recoverable amount of these assets are the higher of net realizable value or value in use. The net realizable 
value is calculated based on market value, etc., while the value in use is estimated to be zero for those assets 
with negative future cash flows. 
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8.	 Inventories
Inventories as of March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Real estate held for sale ¥ 1,988 $ 16,243

Merchandise and finished products 1,573 12,852

Construction work in progress 13,698 111,921

Materials in stock 3,444 28,140

Total ¥ 20,703 $ 169,156

Notes:	 1.	� Inventories are written down based on any decrease in profitability and ¥33 million ($270 
thousand) of loss on write-downs of inventories for the year ended March 31, 2022, is included 
in “Cost of Sales” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

	 2.	�The amount of construction work in progress is not offset by the provision for losses on 
construction contracts and both are presented. The amount of construction work in progress for 
which a provision for losses on construction contracts is provided is ¥88 million ($719 thousand) 
as of March 31, 2022.
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9. 	 Short-Term Debt, Long-Term Debt and Lease Obligations
Short-term debt and lease obligations due within one year as of March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Bank loans bearing interest with an average rate of 0.5% per annum ¥ 75,910 $ 620,230

Current portion of long-term loans 8,583 70,128

Current portion of non-recourse loans 1,194 9,756

Total short-term debt 85,687 700,114

Lease obligations due within one year 236 1,928

Liabilities related to rights to operate public facilities (current) 4,555 37,217

Total ¥ 90,478 $ 739,259

Long-term debt and lease obligations as of March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Corporate bonds
-Issued by Maeda Corporation

0.28% 23rd series bonds due in 2023 ¥ 10,000 $ 81,706

0.31% 25th series bonds due in 2029 10,000 81,706

0.15% 26th series bonds due in 2024 5,000 40,853

0.48% 27th series bonds due in 2030 10,000 81,706

0.22% 28th series bonds due in 2025 10,000 81,706

Sub-total 45,000 367,677

Long-term loans due in between 2023~2027 bearing interest with an 
average rate of 0.8% per annum 61,434 501,953

Long-term non-recourse loans 11,142 91,037

72,576 592,990

Less -Portion due within one year (9,777) (79,884)

Total 62,799 513,106

Lease obligations due after one year 452 3,693

Liabilities related to right to operate public facilities due after one year 103,844 848,468

Total ¥ 212,095 $ 1,732,944

Note:	� Average rates of interest are calculated by the weighted average method using the interest rates 
and the loan balance as of the year end. Average rates of interest of lease obligations are omitted 
since the balance of lease obligations in the balance sheets includes the interest thereof.
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The annual maturities of short-term debt, corporate bonds, long-term debt, and liabilities related to right to 
operate public facilities as of March 31, 2022 are as follows:

(Millions of yen)

March 31, 2022

Year ending
March 31

Short-term 
debt

Corporate 
bonds

Long-term 
debt

Non-
recourse 

debt

Liabilities 
related to 

right to 
operate 
public 

facilities

2023 ¥ 75,910 ¥ — ¥ 8,583 ¥ 1,194 ¥ 4,555

2024 — 10,000 12,041 1,280 4,609

2025 — 5,000 12,030 1,254 4,664

2026 — 10,000 9,799 1,471 4,719

2027 — — 14,201 1,564 4,774

2028 and thereafter — 20,000 4,780 4,379 85,078

Total ¥ 75,910 ¥ 45,000 ¥ 61,434 ¥ 11,142 ¥ 108,399

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

March 31, 2022

Year ending
March 31

Short-term 
debt

Corporate 
bonds

Long-term 
debt

Non-
recourse 

debt

Liabilities 
related to 

right to 
operate 
public 

facilities

2023 $ 620,230 $ — $ 70,128 $ 9,756 $ 37,217

2024 — 81,706 98,383 10,458 37,658

2025 — 40,853 98,292 10,246 38,108

2026 — 81,706 80,064 12,019 38,557

2027 — — 116,031 12,779 39,006

2028 and thereafter — 163,412 39,055 35,779 695,139

Total $ 620,230 $ 367,677 $ 501,953 $ 91,037 $ 885,685
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The assets pledged as collateral for short-term debt and long-term debt as of March 31, 2022 are 
summarized as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Investments in securities ¥ 89 $ 727

Other investments 401 3,276

Total ¥ 490 $ 4,003

The assets pledged as collateral for non-recourse debt as of March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Cash and time deposits ¥ 13,353 $ 109,102

Trade receivables 1,447 11,823

Materials in stock 24 * 196

Buildings and structures 1 * 8

Machinery and equipment, vehicles, and tools, furniture and 
fixtures 5,511 * 45,028

Right to operate public facilities 109,721 896,487

Total ¥ 130,057 $ 1,062,644

* 	� ¥24 million ($196 thousand) of materials in stock, ¥1 million ($8 thousand) of buildings and structures 
and ¥5,507 million ($44,996 thousand) of machinery and equipment, vehicles, and tools, furniture and 
fixtures are pledged as a revolving mortgage for factory foundation of a consolidated subsidiary.
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10.	Lease Transactions
Finance lease contracts: (as lessee)
Finance lease contracts that do not transfer ownership

Leased assets include:
property and equipment, which mainly consist of machinery for rent in the construction machinery sales 
and related service business of a consolidated subsidiary, Maeda Seisakusho Co., Ltd.

Depreciation cost of leased assets is computed by:
as stated in “2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (6) Leased assets.”

Operating lease contracts:
Outstanding minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating lease contracts

March 31

2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

(As lessee)

Minimum lease payments

Within one year ¥ 162 $ 1,324

Over one year 2,556 20,884

¥ 2,718 $ 22,208

(As lessor)

Minimum lease payments

Within one year ¥ 557 $ 4,551

Over one year 5,007 40,910

Total ¥ 5,564 $ 45,461
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11.	Retirement Benefit Plans
The Group has a corporate pension fund plan and an employees’ pension fund plan as defined benefit pension 
plans, as well as defined contribution pension plans and the retirement lump sum payment plans.

The Group may provide extra severance payments, which are not subject to the pension obligation calculated in 
accordance with the retirement benefit accounting, to employees upon retirement and in other circumstances.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries calculate the liabilities for retirement benefits and retirement benefit expenses 
by using the simplified method.

As of March 31, 2022, the Group has 2 corporate pension funds and a single employees’ pension fund, and 16 
companies of the Group have the retirement lump sum payment plan.

Defined benefit plans
The changes in the retirement benefit obligation for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥ 69,606 $ 568,723

Service cost 2,714 22,175

Interest cost 159 1,299

Actuarial gain and loss (753) (6,152)

Retirement benefit paid (3,780) (30,885)

Increase resulting from change in scope of consolidation 132 1,078

Balance at the end of the year ¥ 68,078 $ 556,238

The changes in plan assets for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥ 63,372 $ 517,787

Expected return on plan assets 1,064 8,694

Actuarial gain and loss 728 5,948

Contributions by the Company 3,835 31,334

Retirement benefit paid (2,782) (22,730)

Balance at the end of the year ¥ 66,217 $ 541,033
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The following table reconciles the Group’s funded benefit obligation and plan assets to the liabilities and assets 
for retirement benefits recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2022.

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Funded retirement benefit obligation ¥ 51,310 $ 419,234

Plan assets at fair value (66,217) (541,033)

(14,907) (121,799)

Unfunded retirement benefit obligation 16,768 137,005

Net liability for retirement benefits in the balance sheets 1,861 15,206

Liability for retirement benefits 16,768 137,005

Asset for retirement benefits (14,907) (121,799)

Net liability for retirement benefits in the balance sheets ¥ 1,861 $ 15,206

The components of retirement benefit expense for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Service cost ¥ 2,714 $ 22,175

Interest cost 159 1,299

Expected return on plan assets (1,064) (8,694)

Amortization of actuarial gain and loss 652 5,327

Amortization of prior service cost (20) (163)

Other 2 17

Retirement benefit expense ¥ 2,443 $ 19,961

The components of retirement benefits liability adjustments included in other comprehensive income (before 
tax effect) for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Prior service cost ¥ (20) $ (163)

Actuarial gain and loss 2,133 17,428

Total ¥ 2,113 $ 17,265
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The components of retirement benefits liability adjustments included in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (before tax effect) as of March 31, 2022 are as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Unrecognized prior service cost ¥ 181 $ 1,479

Unrecognized actuarial gain and loss 2,351 19,209

Total ¥ 2,532 $ 20,688

The plan assets at fair value, by major category, as a percentage of total plan assets as of March 31, 2022 are 
as follows:

March 31
2022

Bonds 44.8%

Stocks 26.5%

Cash on hand in banks 1.4%

Other 27.2%

Total 100.0%

The current and projected allocations of plan assets and the current and expected future long-term investment 
rates of return on various assets constituting the plan assets are considered in determining the expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets.

The assumptions used in accounting for the above plans are as follows:

March 31
2022

Discount rates (Notes 1 and 2) 0.3% - 0.6% 

Expected rates of return on plan assets 1.0% - 2.8%

Expected rates of salary increase 2.5% - 2.7%

Notes:	 1.	� A method using multiple discount rates set for each period of projected benefit payments is 
used, but the discount rates are expressed as a weighted average.

	 2.	�Certain consolidated subsidiaries use a single weighted-average discount rate that reflects the 
estimated period of payment of retirement benefits and the amounts expected to be paid in each 
period.

The Group contributions to the defined contribution pension plans were ¥835 million ($6,822 thousand) for the 
year ended March 31, 2022.

One of the consolidated subsidiaries participates in a multi-employer pension fund plan as a defined benefit 
plan, which is accounted for in the same manner as a defined contribution plan since it is impracticable to 
reasonably estimate an amount of plan assets for the contributions made by the Company.
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Contributions made to the multi-employer pension fund plan for the years ended March 31, 2022 were ¥21 
million ($172 thousand).

Funded status of the entire multi-employer pension fund plan as of March 31, 2021 was as follows.

March 31
2021 2021

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Fair value of plan assets ¥ 22,659 $ 185,138

Total amount of actuarial loss on past service liability and minimum 
actuarial reserve 19,750 161,370

Difference ¥ 2,909 $ 23,768

The main factors in the difference in the funded status of the entire multi-employer pension fund plan above 
consist of a separate reserve of ¥1,198 million ($9,788 thousand), an amount equivalent to the risk of financial 
deterioration of ¥5,097 million ($41,646 thousand), and the present value of the amount available for additional 
contributions of ¥(3,386) million ($(27,666) thousand).

The Group employees enrolled in the entire multi-employer pension fund plan as of March 31, 2021 constituted 
2.63%. The percentage does not correspond to the percentage of the Group’s actual contribution.
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12. Stock Option
Among transactions in which shares are delivered without consideration as compensation to directors, details, 
scale, and changes in the pre-delivery type are as follows:

(1) Details of pre-delivery type

2021 Pre-delivery type

Classification and number of grantees Four (4) Directors of the Company (Note 1)
Seven (7) Executive officers of the Company (Note 2)

Number of shares granted by type of stock Common stock 102,669 shares

Date of grant November 18, 2021

Transfer restriction period From November 18, 2021 (the “Allotment date”) to the date of 
retirement of any director or executive officer of the Company

Conditions for cancellation

On the condition that the subject officer has continuously 
held the position of director or executive officer of the 
Company during the period from October 1, 2021 to the date 
of the Company’s annual general meeting of shareholders 
to be held in 2022, the Company will cancel the restriction 
on transfer of all the allotted shares of common stock of the 
Company at the expiration of the restriction period. 

Notes:	 1.	Excluding outside Directors.

	 2.	Executive officers who concurrently serve as directors are excluded.

(2) Scale of pre-delivery type and its changes

1) Amount of expenses recorded

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Remuneration for directors in general and administrative expenses ¥ 63 $ 515

2) Number of shares

2021 Pre-delivery type

As of the end of the previous fiscal year (shares) —

Granted (shares) 102,669

Acquired without consideration (shares) —

Release of restrictions on transfer (shares) —

Unreleased (shares) 102,669

3) Unit price information

Fair unit price at the grant date: ¥922 ($7.53)
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13. Income Taxes
Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2022 are as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Deferred tax assets:
Net loss carried forward ¥ 776 $ 6,340
Liability for retirement benefits 5,735 46,859
Write-down of inventories and other 4,325 35,338
Impairment loss on fixed assets 4,521 36,939
Allowance for doubtful accounts 242 1,977
Provision for losses on construction contracts 260 2,124
Unrealized inter-company profit of fixed assets 569 4,649
Evaluation difference on capital consolidation 3,971 32,446
Other 9,118 74,500

Total 29,517 241,172
Less – Valuation allowance (19,256) (157,333)

Deferred tax assets 10,261 83,839

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gain on investment in securities (8,960) (73,209)
Evaluation difference on capital consolidation (8,007) (65,422)
Asset for retirement benefits (5,029) (41,090)
Retained Earnings of affiliates (82) (670)
Other (1,647) (13,457)

Total deferred tax liabilities (23,725) (193,848)
Net deferred tax liabilities ¥ (13,464) $ (110,009)

The major components of the difference between the statutory tax rate and effective income tax rate for the 
year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

March 31
2022

Statutory tax rate 30.6%
Changes in the tax rate resulting from:

Non-deductible expenses 0.8
Non-taxable income (0.2)
Per capita levy 0.7
Special deductible income taxes (0.8)
Retained earnings of affiliates (0.1)
Amortization of goodwill 4.6
Elimination of dividend income 0.7
Gain on equity method investments (0.4)
Less-Valuation allowance and other (2.8)

Effective income tax rate 33.1%
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14. Business Combination

 1. Common control transaction

(1) Descriptions of transactions

1) Name of combined business and details of operations

Wholly owned subsidiaries involved in share transfer:
Maeda Corporation (civil engineering and construction contracts, design, and operation of public 
infrastructure, etc.)
Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. (construction, manufacturing, and sales) 
Maeda Seisakusho Co., Ltd. (sales, service, rental, etc. of construction materials and products)

2) Date of business combination

October 1, 2021

3) Legal form of business combination

Establishment of a holding company by joint share transfer

4) Name of company after business combination

Wholly owning parent company by share transfer: INFRONEER Holdings Inc.

5) Other matters related to descriptions of transaction 

In order for the entire group to work together to achieve sustainable growth in the face of significant 
changes in the business environment in the future, it is essential for Maeda Corporation, Maeda Road 
Construction Co., Ltd. and Maeda Seisakusho Co., Ltd. (hereinafter the “Three Companies”) to work 
more closely together than ever before, and to maximize synergies for the entire group by building 
a solid management base that can respond to changes in the business environment and allocate 
management resources. The Company believes that carrying out group strategies in an integrated 
manner by transitioning to a holding company structure through the business combination will contribute 
to the enhancement of the corporate value of the Three Companies and the Group.

(2) Descriptions of implemented accounting treatment

Based on the “Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” and “Guidance on Accounting Standard 
for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures,” transactions are treated 
as transactions with non-controlling interests, under common control transactions, etc.

(3) Matters related to additional acquisition of subsidiary shares

Breakdown of acquisition cost and consideration by type:

Fair value of the Company’s common stock issued on the business combination 
date

¥94,204 million
($769,703 thousand)

Acquisition cost ¥94,204 million
($769,703 thousand)

(4) �Transfer ratio by share type, calculation method thereof, and number of issued 
shares

1) Transfer ratio by share type

1.00 share of common stock of the Company was allotted for each share of common stock of Maeda 
Corporation, 2.28 shares of common stock of the Company were allotted for each share of common 
stock of Maeda Road, and 0.58 shares of common stock of the Company were allotted for each share 
of common stock of Maeda Seisakusho.
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2) Calculation method of share transfer ratio

The determination of the share transfer ratio was commissioned to several financial advisors, and 
the ratio has been calculated upon discussion between the parties involved based on the reports 
submitted from the advisors.

3) Number of issued shares

391,539,797 shares

(5) �Matters related to changes in the Company’s interest in transactions with non-
controlling shareholders

1) Main reasons for changes in additional paid-in capital

Additional acquisition of shares of subsidiaries

2) Amount of additional paid-in capital reduced by transactions with non-
controlling shareholders

¥7,070 million ($57,766 thousand)

2. Common control transaction

(1) Descriptions of transactions

1) Name of subject operations and details of those operations

Name of operations:
Management of bonds pertaining to issue by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Maeda 
Corporation

Details of operations:
Operations pertaining to bonds issued by Maeda Corporation

2) Date of business combination

December 20, 2021

3) Legal form of business combination

Absorption-type company split making Maeda Corporation the split company and the Company the 
succeeding company

4) Name of company after business combination

No change

5) Other matters related to descriptions of transaction 

The Company was established on October 1, 2021, as a wholly owning parent company of Maeda 
Corporation, Maeda Road and Maeda Seisakusho by means of a joint share transfer. The business 
combination centralizes the Group’s bond management operations in the Company through the 
Company’s inheritance of the rights and obligations for bond management of Maeda Corporation, the 
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary.

(2) Descriptions of implemented accounting treatment

Based on the “Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” and “Guidance on Accounting Standard 
for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures,” transactions are treated 
as transactions with noncontrolling shareholders among transactions under common control.
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15. Shareholders’ Equity
The Companies Act of Japan provides that an amount equivalent to 10% of the amount of the deduction from 
surplus as a result of the payment of dividends of surplus be recorded as additional paid-in capital or retained 
earnings reserves, until the sum of the additional paid-in capital and the retained earnings reserves equals 
25% of the common stock amount. Such a distribution of dividends of surplus can be made by resolution of a 
shareholders meeting, or by the Board of Directors if certain conditions are met.

16.	Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
The contingent liabilities of the Company as of March 31, 2022 are summarized as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Endorsed trade notes receivable ¥ 8,243 $ 67,350

Guarantees on securitized trade notes receivable 12 98

Loan guarantee for

Asai Construction Co., Ltd. 765 6,251

Izumon Retailing Co., Ltd.* 46 376

Letters of guarantee for 

Maeda Vietnam Co., Ltd.* 393 3,211

Total ¥ 9,459 $ 77,286

*  Company affiliates

17. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The major items of selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income for 
the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Salaries to employees ¥ 17,666 $ 144,342

Experimental research costs 7,125 58,216

Amortization of goodwill 6,748 55,135

Retirement benefit expenses 1,068 8,726

Provision for bonuses for employees 3,160 25,819

Allowance for doubtful accounts 6 49

Provision for bonuses for directors 247 2,018
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18.	Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses included in selling, general and administrative expenses and 
manufacturing costs for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Research and development expenses ¥ 5,670 ¥ 46,327

19.	Provision for Loss on Construction Contracts
Provision for loss on construction contracts included in cost of sales for the year ended March 31, 2022 
amounted to ¥390 million ($3,187 thousand).

20.	Gain on Sale of Fixed Assets
The details of gain on sale of fixed assets for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Land ¥ 129 $ 1,054

Buildings 69 564

Machinery and equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture, and fixtures 134 1,095

Total ¥ 332 $ 2,713

21. Loss on Retirement of Fixed Assets
The details of loss on retirement of fixed assets for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Buildings ¥ 224 $ 1,830

Machinery and equipment, vehicles, tools, furniture, and fixtures 244 1,994

Others 61 498

Total ¥ 529 $ 4,322
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22. Reduction Entry Resulting from Government Subsidy
Excluded from the acquisition cost of tangible fixed assets due to receiving government subsidies for the year 
ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Buildings and structures ¥ 287 $ 2,345

23. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
The reclassification adjustments and tax effects associated with other comprehensive income for the year 
ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Unrealized loss on investments in securities
Recognized amount for the year ¥ (9,793) $ (80,015)
Amount of reclassification adjustments (6,120) (50,004)

Before tax effect adjustment (15,913) (130,019)
Amount of tax effect 4,833 39,489

Sub-total ¥ (11,080) $ (90,530)

Deferred gains or losses on hedges
Recognized amount for the year ¥ 50 $ 409
Amount of reclassification adjustments — —

Before tax effect adjustment 50 409
Amount of tax effect (3) (25)

Sub-total ¥ 47 $ 384

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Recognized amount for the year ¥ (72) $ (588)
Amount of reclassification adjustments — —

Sub-total ¥ (72) $ (588)

Retirement benefits liability adjustments
Recognized amount for the year ¥ 1,481 $ 12,100
Amount of reclassification adjustments 632 5,164

Before tax effect adjustment ¥ 2,113 ¥ 17,264
Amount of tax effect (791) (6,462)

Sub-total ¥ 1,322 $ 10,802
Share of other comprehensive income of companies accounted for by 
equity method

Recognized amount for the year ¥ (2) $ (16)
Amount of reclassification adjustments 45 367

Sub-total ¥ 43 $ 351
Total other comprehensive loss ¥ (9,740) $ (79,581)
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24. Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
(1) Type and number of outstanding stock and treasury stock

(Thousands of shares)

Outstanding stock Treasury stock
Type Common stock Common stock

Number of shares as of April 1, 2021 194,608 7,348

Increase during the year 391,539 121,994

Decrease during the year 295,077 102,648

Number of shares as of March 31, 2022 291,070 26,694

Notes:	 1.	� The increase in issued shares is due to the establishment of the Company by means of a joint 
share transfer (hereinafter the “Share Transfer”) conducted by Maeda Corporation, Maeda 
Road Construction Co., Ltd. and Maeda Seisakusho Co., Ltd. on October 1, 2021.

	 2.	� The decrease of 295,077 thousand issued shares represents a decrease of 160 thousand 
shares due to the cancellation of treasury stock in September 2021 based on the resolution 
of the Board of Directors of Maeda Corporation, a decrease of 194,447 thousand shares 
in issued shares of Maeda Corporation, which became a wholly owned subsidiary, and a 
decrease of 100,469 thousand shares due to the cancellation of treasury stock in November 
2021 based on the resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company.

	 3.	� The number of shares of treasury stock at the beginning of the current fiscal year includes 
496 thousand shares of the Company’s shares held by the “ESOP” implemented by Maeda 
Corporation, and 657 thousand shares held by the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) introduced by 
Maeda Corporation.

	 4.	� The increase of 121,994 thousand shares in treasury stock is composed of 100,675 thousand 
shares of the Company allocated to subsidiaries as a result of the Share Transfer, an increase 
of 17,066 thousand shares from the acquisition of treasury stock based on a resolution of 
the Board of Directors, an increase of 20 thousand shares from the acquisition of shares 
with transfer restrictions without compensation, an increase of 10 thousand shares from the 
purchase of shares of less than one unit, and an increase of 4,221 thousand shares from the 
acquisition of Company shares by the “ESOP” that the Company has introduced.

	 5.	� The decrease of 102,648 thousand shares in treasury stock is due to the decrease of 160 
thousand shares resulting from the cancellation of treasury stock in September 2021 based 
on the resolution of the Board of Directors of Maeda Corporation, the decrease of 100,469 
thousand shares resulting from the cancellation of treasury stock in November 2021 based 
on the resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company, the decrease of 1,762 thousand 
shares due to the disposal of treasury stock based on a resolution of the Board of Directors, 
the decrease of 164 thousand shares due to treasury stock disposal as restricted stock 
compensation, and the decrease of 92 thousand shares due to the sale of shares to the 
employee stock holding partnership through the “ESOP” introduced by Maeda Corporation.

	 6.	� The number of treasury stock at the end of the current fiscal year includes 4,221 thousand 
shares held by the “ESOP” introduced by the Company and 657 thousand shares held by the 
BBT introduced by Maeda Corporation.
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(2) Dividends

1) Payment of dividends

The Company was established on October 1, 2021 by means of a joint share transfer as a wholly 
owning parent company of Maeda Corporation, Maeda Road Construction, Co., Ltd., and Maeda 
Seisakusho Co., Ltd., and for that reason the amount of dividends paid is the amount resolved at 
Maeda Corporation, which was the former parent company that became a wholly owned subsidiary 
through the joint share transfer.

(Resolution) Type of 
shares

Total amount 
of dividends 

Dividend per 
share Record date Effective date

General 
shareholders 

meeting held on 
June 23, 2021

Common 
shares

¥7,144 million
($58,371 

thousand)

¥38.0
($0.31)

March 31, 
2021 June 24, 2021

Notes:	 1.	�The total amount of dividends is the amount after deducting dividends on parent company 
shares held by subsidiaries and affiliates.

	 2.	�The total amount of dividends resolved at the general shareholders meeting held on 
June 23, 2021 includes dividends of ¥3 million ($25 thousand) for Maeda Corporation’s 
shares held by the “ESOP” introduced by Maeda Corporation, and dividends of ¥25 million 
($204 thousand) for Maeda Corporation’s shares held by the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) 
introduced by Maeda Corporation.

2) �Dividends with the record date that falls within the fiscal year under review but 
the effective date in the following fiscal year

(Resolution) Type of 
shares

Total 
amount of 
dividends 

Source of 
dividend

Dividend 
per share

Record 
date

Effective 
date

Board of 
Directors’ 

meeting held 
on May 13, 

2022

Common 
shares

¥10,770 
million

($87,997 
thousand)

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

¥40.0
($0.33)

March 31, 
2022

June 24, 
2022

Notes:	 1.	�The total amount of dividends is the amount after deducting dividends on parent company 
shares held by subsidiaries and affiliates.

	 2.	�The total amount of dividends resolved by the Board of Directors at a meeting held on 
May 13, 2022 includes dividends of ¥169 million ($1,381 thousand) for the Company’s 
shares held by the “ESOP” introduced by the Company, and dividends of ¥26 million 
($212 thousand) for Maeda Corporation’s shares held by the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) 
introduced by Maeda Corporation.
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25. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(1) Cash and cash equivalents at year end

The balances of “Cash and time deposits” in the consolidated balance sheets are reconciled to “Cash and 
cash equivalents at end of the year” in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended March 
31, 2022 as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Cash and time deposits ¥ 78,036 $ 637,601

Less – Time deposits over 3 months (1,842) (15,050)

Less – Separate deposits in trusts (Note) (175) (1,430)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ¥ 76,019 $ 621,121

Note:	 Included in “ESOP” and Board Benefit Trust (BBT)

(2) Significant non-cash transactions

The Company was established on October 1, 2021 by means of a joint share transfer (hereinafter the 
“Share Transfer”) as a wholly owning parent company of Maeda Corporation, Maeda Road Construction, 
Co., Ltd., and Maeda Seisakusho Co., Ltd. As a result of the Share Transfer, additional paid-in capital 
increased by ¥193,866 million ($1,584,002 thousand) and treasury stock increased by ¥(98,401) million 
($(803,995) thousand), while common stock and non-controlling interests decreased by ¥8,463 million 
($69,148 thousand) and ¥87,002 million ($710,859 thousand), respectively.
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26. Investment and Rental Properties
Certain consolidated subsidiaries own rental properties such as office buildings, facilities for lease and others 
in Tokyo, Fukuoka, and the other major cities in Japan. Profit on rental properties was ¥903 million ($7,378 
thousand) and impairment loss on rental properties is ¥54 million ($441 thousand) for the year ended March 
31, 2022.

The book value, increase or decrease in book value during the year, and fair value of rental properties for the 
year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:

March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Book value as of April 1, 2021 ¥ 19,672 $ 160,732

Increase during the year 121 989

Book value as of March 31, 2022 ¥ 19,793 $ 161,721

Fair value as of the year end ¥ 33,422 $ 273,078

Notes:	 1.	� Book value represents the acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation cost and accumulated 
impairment loss.

	 2.	�Increase in book value results mainly from the purchase of rental building in the amount of 
¥596 million ($4,870 thousand). Decrease in book value results mainly from change in scope 
of consolidation in the amount of ¥165 million ($1,348 thousand) for the year ended March 31, 
2022.

	 3.	�Fair values of main properties are based on real property appraisal from outside real estate 
appraisers.
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27. Operations for Public Facilities, etc.
Aichi Road Concession Co., Ltd., a consolidated subsidiary, has been selected as a management company, 
and it runs operations for public facilities as follows;

1. Summary of rights to operate public facilities

Descriptions 
of public 
facilities

Toll Road Operation Management in Aichi Prefecture
4 Roads in Chita Sanage Green Kinuura Kinuura Toyota Nagoya Seto
Area consisting 
of Minami Road Tunnel Road Road

Chita Road, 
Chita Hanto
Road, Chita 
Odan Road,
and Access 
Road to Chubu
Centrair Int’l 
Airport
Rights are made on above-mentioned roads respectively

Terms of 
payments

Pay in lump sum as rights are obtained, and the remaining balances are 
paid annually

Pay in full as 
right is obtained

Duration of 
rights

October 1, 2016 
to

March 31, 2046

October 1, 2016 
to

June 22, 2029

October 1, 2016 
to

November 29, 2029

October 1, 2016 
to

March 5, 2034

October 1, 2016 
to

November 26, 2044
Remaining 
duration of 
rights

April 1, 2022  
to

March 31, 2046

April 1, 2022  
to

June 22, 2029

April 1, 2022 
to

November 29, 2029

April 1, 2022 
to

March 5, 2034

April 1, 2022  
to

November 26, 2044

Summary of 
profit-
share clause

Increased and decreased revenues belong to or are compensated as follows, provided that 
the revenue amounts of each fiscal-year end are increased or decreased compare to the 
scheduled revenue amounts;
• Within 6% of increase (or decrease)

Belong to Aichi Road Concession Co., Ltd.
• Above 6% of increase

6% or less of increase belongs to Aichi Road Concession Co., Ltd.
6% or above of increase belongs to Aichi Prefectural Road Public Corporation

• Above 6% of decrease
6% or less of decrease belongs to Aichi Road Concession Co., Ltd.
6% or above of decrease belongs to Aichi Prefectural Road Public Corporation

2. Amortization method of rights to operate public facilities

Unit-of-production method based on traffic volume.

3. Information on replacement investments

(1) Descriptions and scheduled dates

(4 roads in Chita Area)

Descriptions of main replacement investments Scheduled dates

Replacement of remote monitoring facilities Year ending March 31, 2025

Replacement of main computer system Year ending March 31, 2024

Replacement of lanes for Electronic Toll Collection System 
(“ETC”)

From year ending March 31, 2026
to year ending March 31, 2032

Replacement of lanes for Ordinary Toll Collection Machines From year ending March 31, 2023
to year ending March 31, 2034
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(Sanage Green Road)

Descriptions of main replacement investments Scheduled dates

Replacement of road information boards Year ending March 31, 2025

ITV cameras Year ending March 31, 2027

(Kinuura Tunnel)

Descriptions of main replacement investments Scheduled dates

Remote monitoring facilities Year ending March 31, 2024

ITV cameras Year ending March 31, 2024

(Kinuura Toyota Road)

Descriptions of main replacement investments Scheduled dates

Replacement of lanes for Ordinary Toll Collection Machines Year ending March 31, 2023

Replacement of road information displays Year ending March 31, 2027

(Nagoya Seto Road)

Descriptions of main replacement investments Scheduled dates

Replacement of lanes for Ordinary Toll Collection Machines Year ending March 31, 2032

Road information boards Year ending March 31, 2027

Lanes for ETC Year ending March 31, 2031

Power receiving and distribution facilities Year ending March 31, 2035

(2) �Recognition of assets and liabilities related to replacement investments 
adopted by the management company

Regarding the extent of the replacement investments that constitutes capital expenditures (limited to 
those for which ownership belongs to the management company, etc.), the total amount and timing 
of expenditures expected to be incurred over the duration of the right of operation are estimated, and 
the present value of the total amount expected to be incurred is recorded as a liability and the same 
amount is recorded as an asset at the time of acquisition of the right to operate public facilities.

(3) Amortization method of assets in replacement investment

Unit-of-production method based on traffic volume.
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28. Revenue Recognition
(1) Information on disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Information on disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers has been disclosed in “29. 
Segment Information.”

(2) Information in understanding revenue from contracts with customers

Information in understanding revenue has been disclosed in “2. Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, (1) Recognition of revenues and expenses.”

(3) �Information in understanding the amount of revenue from contracts with 
customers for the current and subsequent fiscal years

1) Balances of contract assets and contract liabilities
(Millions of yen)

Year ended March 31, 2022
Beginning balance Ending balance

Receivables from contracts with customers:
Trade receivables – Notes ¥ 13,483 ¥ 10,650
Trade receivables – Accounts 104,335 86,777

Total ¥ 117,818 ¥ 97,427
Contract assets ¥ 145,613 ¥ 213,375
Contract liabilities ¥ 36,962 ¥ 34,863

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2022

Beginning balance Ending balance
Receivables from contracts with customers:

Trade receivables – Notes $ 110,164 $ 87,017
Trade receivables – Accounts 852,480 709,020

Total $ 962,644 $ 796,037
Contract assets $ 1,189,746 $ 1,743,402
Contract liabilities $ 302,002 $ 284,852

Revenue recognized in the current fiscal year that was included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the period was ¥ 34,069 million ($278,364 thousand).
The promised consideration is charged and received in accordance with the payment terms in 
construction contracts. The amount of revenue recognized in the current fiscal year from performance 
obligations that were satisfied (or partially satisfied) in prior periods was not material, and therefore, note 
has been omitted.

2) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 

The total transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations that are unsatisfied as of 
March 31, 2022 amounted to ¥809,569 million ($6,614,666 thousand).
The Company expects to recognize revenue for these remaining performance obligations generally 
within 10 years as the relevant properties are completed.
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29. Segment Information
(1) Segment information

1) Summary of reportable segments:

The reportable segments of the Group are components for which separate financial information 
is available and whose operating results are evaluated regularly by the Board of Directors to make 
decisions about how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The operations of the Group consist of business and service segments operated by the consolidated 
subsidiaries, etc. and are composed of five reportable segments as follows:

Building : Contract work for building and other related services

Civil engineering : Contract work for civil engineering and other related services

Road civil engineering : Contract work for road civil engineering, manufacture and sale of 
various asphalt mix materials, and other related services

Machinery : Production and sales of construction machinery and other related 
services

Infrastructure management : Renewable energy and concession operations, and other related 
services

Effective from the third quarter of the current fiscal year, following the transition to a holding company 
structure through the joint stock transfer, the Company has reorganized its business segments into five 
reportable segments: Building, Civil engineering, Road civil engineering, Machinery, and Infrastructure 
management.

2) Net sales, profit (or loss), and other items by reportable segment

The accounting policies used for the segment reporting are substantially the same as those described 
in “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” Profits of reportable segments are based on operating 
profit. Inter-segment transactions are transactions among the consolidated subsidiaries and are based 
on market prices, etc.

3) Information on sales, profit or loss, other items by reportable segment
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For the year ended March 31, 2022 (April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022)
(Millions of yen)

Reportable 
Segment

Other 
(Note 1) Total Adjustment 

(Note 2)

Amount 
recorded in 

consolidated 
financial 

statements
 (Note 3)

Building Civil 
Engineering

Road Civil 
Engineering Machinery Infrastructure 

Management Total

Net sales
Goods 
transferred at a 
point in time

¥   8,942 ¥   2,718 ¥ 183,676 ¥ 29,668 ¥ 18,610 ¥ 243,614 ¥ 26,057 ¥ 269,671 ¥    — ¥ 269,671

Goods 
transferred over 
time

205,443 139,921 48,927 52 — 394,343 11,350 405,693 — 405,693

Revenue from 
contracts with 
customers

214,385 142,639 232,603 29,720 18,610 637,957 37,407 675,364 — 675,364

Revenue from 
other sources 1,718 — 165 5,603 63 7,549 — 7,549 — 7,549

Net sales 
to outside 
customers

216,103 142,639 232,768 35,323 18,673 645,506 37,407 682,913 — 682,913

Inter-segment 
sales or transfers 2,461 (125) 2,832 1,823 294 7,285 14,765 22,050 (22,050) —

Total ¥ 218,564 ¥ 142,514 ¥ 235,600 ¥ 37,146 ¥ 18,967 ¥ 652,791 ¥ 52,172 ¥ 704,963 ¥ (22,050) ¥ 682,913
Segment profit ¥ 8,497 ¥ 14,661 ¥ 2,669 ¥ 1,694 ¥ 6,095 ¥ 33,616 ¥ 1,891 ¥ 35,507 ¥ 1,983 ¥ 37,490
Other items:
Depreciation ¥ 3,196 ¥ 2,086 ¥ 10,745 ¥ 1,792 ¥ 6,506 ¥ 24,325 ¥ 516 ¥ 24,841 ¥ (131) ¥ 24,710
Amortization of 
goodwill ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 6,748 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 6,748 ¥ — ¥ 6,748 ¥ — ¥ 6,748

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)
Reportable 
Segment

Other 
(Note 1) Total

Adjustment 
(Note 2)

Amount 
recorded in 

consolidated 
financial 

statements 
(Note 3)

Building Civil 
Engineering

Road Civil 
Engineering Machinery Infrastructure 

Management Total

Net sales

Goods transferred 
at a point in time $  73,061 $  22,208 $1,500,744 $ 242,405 $ 152,055 $1,990,473 $ 212,902 $2,203,375 $  — $2,203,375

Goods transferred 
over time 1,678,593 1,143,239 399,763 425 — 3,222,020 92,736 3,314,756 — 3,314,756

Revenue from 
contracts with 
customers

1,751,654 1,165,447 1,900,507 242,830 152,055 5,212,493 305,638 5,518,131 — 5,518,131

Revenue from 
other sources 14,037 — 1,348 45,780 515 61,680 — 61,680 — 61,680

Net sales to 
outside customers 1,765,691 1,165,447 1,901,855 288,610 152,570 5,274,173 305,638 5,579,811 — $5,579,811

Inter-segment 
sales or transfers 20,108 (1,021) 23,139 14,895 2,402 59,523 120,639 180,162 (180,162) —

Total $1,785,799 $1,164,426 $1,924,994 $ 303,505 $ 154,972 $5,333,696 $ 426,277 $5,759,973 $ (180,162) $5,579,811

Segment profit $69,426 $119,789 $21,807 $13,841 $49,800 $274,663 $15,451 $290,114 $16,202 $306,316

Other items:

Depreciation $26,113 $17,044 $87,793 $14,642 $53,158 $198,750 $4,216 $202,966 $(1,070) $201,896

Amortization of 
goodwill $— $— $55,135 $— $— $55,135 $— $55,135 $  — $55,135

Notes: 	 1.	� “Other items” represents business segments which are not included in reportable segments, 
namely businesses operated by certain subsidiaries

	 2.	�Adjustment of segment profit includes inter-segment transactions of ¥1,983 million ($16,202 thousand).

	 3.	�Adjustments are made to reconcile segment profit to operating profit reported on the consolidated 
statement of income.

	 4.	�As assets are not allocated to business segments, the amount of assets for each segment is not shown.
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(2) Related information

1) Products and services segment information

Description is omitted since it is described previously in (1) Segment information.

2) Geographic segment information

(a) Sales
The disclosures of geographic segment information are omitted since sales to outside customers 
in Japan for the year ended March 31, 2022 exceeds 90% of the sales in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income.

(b) Fixed assets
The disclosures of geographic segment information are omitted since fixed assets in Japan as of 
March 31, 2022 exceeds 90% of fixed assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

3) Major customer segment information

The disclosure of major customer segment information is omitted since there are no sales to outside 
customers that account for 10% or more of the net sales in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

(3) Impairment loss on fixed assets by segment

Year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Building ¥ 69 $ 564
Civil engineering — —
Road civil engineering 425 3,472
Machinery 1 8
Infrastructure management — —
Other — —
Adjustment — —

Amount recorded in consolidated statement of income ¥ 495 $ 4,044

(4) Amortization and residual value of goodwill information

For the year ended March 31, 2022 (April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022)
(Millions of yen)

Building Civil
engineering

Road civil 
engineering Machinery Infrastructure

management Other Adjustment Total

Amortization ¥— ¥— ¥6,748 ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥6,748

Balance at the 
end of the year ¥— ¥— ¥19,892 ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥19,892

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Building Civil
engineering

Road civil 
engineering Machinery Infrastructure

management Other Adjustment Total

Amortization $— $— $55,135 $— $— $— $— $55,135

Balance at the 
end of the year $— $— $162,530 $— $— $— $— $162,530

(5) Gain on negative goodwill information

The disclosure of gain on negative goodwill is omitted since the amount is immaterial.
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30. Related Party Information
(1) Disclosure of related party transactions

For the year ended March 31, 2022:	
Not applicable

(2) Disclosure of major affiliates

Not applicable

31. Per Share Information
For the year ended March 31
2022 2022
(Yen) (U.S. dollars)

Net assets per share ¥ 1,312.19 $ 10.72

Earnings per share 94.73 0.77

Notes: 	 1.	� Diluted earnings per share is not shown because there are no potential shares.

	 2.	�Earnings per share for the current fiscal year is calculated by multiplying the average number of 
shares of Maeda Corporation during the period from April 1, 2021 to September 30, 2021, which 
is before the establishment of the Company by means of a joint share transfer on October 1, 
2021, by the share transfer rate.

	 3.	�Shares of the Company remaining in the “ESOP” and the Board Benefit Trust (BBT), which are 
recorded as treasury stock in shareholders’ equity, are included in treasury stock as a deduction 
in the calculation of average number of shares outstanding during the period for the purpose of 
calculating earnings per share. The “ESOP” introduced by Maeda Corporation was terminated 
in the second quarter of the current fiscal year.

		�  The numbers of such treasury stock at the end of the current fiscal year deducted for the 
calculation of net assets per share are 4,221 thousand shares for the “ESOP” introduced by 
the Company and 657 thousand shares for the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) introduced by Maeda 
Corporation.

		�  The average numbers of such treasury stock during the current fiscal year deducted for the 
calculation of earnings per share are 18 thousand shares for the “ESOP” introduced by Maeda 
Corporation, 324 shares for the “ESOP” introduced by the Company and 657 thousand shares 
for the Board Benefit Trust (BBT) introduced by Maeda Corporation.

	 4.	�The basis for the calculation of earnings per share is as follows.

For the year ended March 31
2022 2022

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of
U.S. dollars)

Profit attributable to owners of parent ¥ 26,689 $ 218,065

Amount not attributable to common shareholders — —

Net profit attributable to common shareholders ¥ 26,689 $ 218,065

(Thousands of shares)
For the year ended 

March 31
2022

Average number of shares 281,728
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32. Significant Subsequent Event

Cancellation of treasury stock

At the Board of Directors’ meeting held on May 13, 2022, the Company resolved to cancel shares of its treasury 
stock pursuant to the provisions of Article 178 of the Companies Act, and canceled treasury stock on May 23, 
2022.

(1)	 Type of shares canceled:	 Common stock
(2)	 Number of shares canceled:	 16,225,478 shares
(3)	 Date of cancellation: 	 May 23, 2022
(4)	 Total number of issued shares after the cancellation: 274,845,024 shares



Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

 

The Board of Directors 

INFRONEER Holdings Inc. 

 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of INFRONEER Holdings 

Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance 

sheet as at March 31, 2022, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 

changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2022, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. 

 

Estimates of total construction revenue and total construction costs using the method of recognizing 

revenue over time in the building construction and civil engineering businesses 

Description of Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response 

As described in “1) Revenue recognition with 

regard to construction work “of “(1) Recognition of 

revenues and expenses” in “2. Summary of 

Significant Accounting Policies”  under (Important 

matters that form the basis for preparation of 

consolidated financial statements) in the Notes to 

Consolidated Financial Statements, for construction 

in which the recognition of revenue as performance 

obligations are satisfied over time can be reasonably 

estimated, INFRONEER Holdings Inc. (the 

We mainly performed the following audit 

procedures in evaluating the reasonableness of 

estimates of total construction costs and total 

construction revenue accounted for using the method 

of recognizing revenue over time. 

Estimates of total construction costs 

(1) Evaluation of internal controls 

We evaluated the design and operation of the 

following internal controls relating to estimates of 

total construction costs. 
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“Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries 

(collectively, the “Group”) estimate progress using 

the cost-based input method and apply the method of 

recognizing revenue as performance obligations to 

transfer a good or service to the customer are satisfied 

over time. Of net sales of ¥682,912 million for the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, net sales of 

¥345,363 million, or 51%, were recorded using the 

method of recognizing revenue over time in the 

building construction and civil engineering 

businesses. Revenue in the building construction and 

civil engineering businesses consists of revenue 

generated by MAEDA CORPORATION. 

Revenue recorded using the method of recognizing 

revenue over time is measured based on the progress 

towards the satisfaction of performance obligations, 

and such progress is determined based on the ratio of 

actual incurred costs up to the end of the fiscal year 

to total construction costs. 

As described in “1). Recognition of completed 

construction contracts for which revenue is 

recognized over a certain period of time ” under “19 

Significant accounting estimates” in the Notes to 

Consolidated Financial Statements, total construction 

costs are continuously reviewed because construction 

projects are highly customized in nature in terms of 

specifications and work details as well as the 

possibility of changes in construction periods, 

unexpected expenses, fluctuations in construction 

material prices and labor costs, and design changes 

during the construction process. In addition, there are 

cases in which design changes based on an agreement 

with customers are made during the construction 

process, wherein the amount of the consideration is 

not fixed in a timely manner and, therefore, a portion 

of total construction revenue is recognized based on 

estimates (the portion of total construction revenue 

recognized based on estimates is hereinafter referred 

to as the “ contract amounts not yet contracted ”). The 

contract amounts not yet contracted are reviewed on 

a continuous basis since there is a possibility the 

estimates may change based on progress of 

negotiations or entering into contracts with ordering 

parties. These estimates require certain assumptions 

and involve uncertainty and the exercise of judgment 

by on-site construction managers. 

Based on the above, we have determined that 

estimates of total construction costs and total 

・We evaluated systems confirming that operating 

budgets, on which estimates of total construction 

costs are based, and construction management 

tables, which are used to update estimates of total 

construction costs based on recent circumstances, 

have been prepared in a timely and appropriate 

manner by on-site construction managers. 

・ We evaluated systems confirming that total 

construction costs are estimated by aggregating 

each type of construction on the basis of specific 

considerations, including quotations from 

subcontractors. 

・We evaluated systems confirming that monitoring 

is performed on a timely basis by project managers 

in the Construction Management Division, with 

respect to changes in profit or loss throughout 

projects, comparisons of plans with actual 

progress, the current status of progress, and other 

considerations. 

(2) Evaluation of the reasonableness of estimates 

We identified construction work for which 

uncertainty associated with estimates of total 

construction costs was relatively high in light of the 

significance of construction contract amounts and 

profit or loss on construction, changes in profit or loss 

on construction, and the status of construction, 

including changes in construction periods, and 

mainly performed the following audit procedures. 

・With regard to estimates of total construction costs 

determined based on operating budgets, we 

considered whether the costs were calculated by 

aggregating amounts by each type of construction, 

whether the costs were consistent with the total 

construction costs calculated at the time of bidding 

and so forth, and whether operating budgets were 

free from reconciliation items involving abnormal 

amounts included in response to future uncertainty. 

In addition, we reconciled the costs with unit prices 

agreed to in contracts and quotations from 

subcontractors, as necessary. 

・We compared operating budgets and past changes 

with recent estimates for total construction costs. 

For changes in total construction costs that were 

above a certain threshold, we made inquiries of 

responsible personnel and project managers in the 

Construction Management Division about the 

reasons for the changes. We compared the results 

of responses received from the inquiries with 

corroborative minutes of negotiations with 
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construction revenue recognized using the method 

of recognizing revenue over time in the building 

construction and civil engineering businesses are of 

particular significance for the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2022 and, accordingly, that this is a key 

audit matter in light of considerations such as the 

importance of construction work based on the 

relative amount of net sales using the method of 

recognizing revenue over time in the building 

construction and civil engineering businesses as a 

percentage of net sales for the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2022, and the complexity of the 

construction. 

ordering parties and quotations from 

subcontractors, as necessary. 

・We inspected monthly construction reports, which 

are documents detailing the overall progress of 

construction management and issues identified 

related to construction and other matters and 

compared the reports with actual overall progress, 

on-site photographs, and progress towards the 

satisfaction of performance obligations. 

・ We inspected construction sites for certain 

construction projects and considered whether the 

status of construction was consistent with the 

estimates of total construction costs and the 

progress of construction. 

・We evaluated the processes for estimating total 

construction costs by comparing prior estimates of 

the total construction costs with actual amounts or 

revised estimates. 

In addition, we used a tool that detects anomalies 

in progress (the tool detects unusual progress in 

construction work that apply the method of 

recognizing revenue as performance obligations are 

satisfied over time based on forecasts of progress 

towards construction completion using machine 

learning, as well as forecasts loss-generating 

contracts and detects unusual timing of cost 

incurrence). For construction work that has been 

identified as a result of progress towards satisfaction 

of performance obligations exceeding a certain level 

from the progress at the closing date as forecasted by 

the tool, we considered whether such progress 

towards satisfaction of performance obligations was 

consistent with monthly reports on construction and 

construction management tables. 

 

Estimates of total construction revenue when  

the contract amounts not yet contracted  are 

included in total construction revenue 

(1) Evaluation of internal controls 

We evaluated the design and operation of internal 

controls to confirm that reliable estimates of the 

contract amounts not yet contracted are made in a 

timely and appropriate manner based on negotiations 

with ordering parties. 

(2) Evaluation of the reasonableness of estimates 

Based on our understanding of reported the 

contract amounts not yet contracted  for each 

construction project, we selected samples for 

consideration based on their quantitative or 
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qualitative significance, and performed the following 

procedures. 

・To evaluate whether estimates were performed 

taking into consideration agreements or the status 

of negotiations with ordering parties, or the 

possibility of entering into a construction contract, 

we made inquiries of responsible personnel and 

project managers in the Construction Management 

Division and inspected quotations submitted to 

ordering parties, instructions from ordering parties 

for changes, and minutes of negotiations with 

ordering parties. 

・To evaluate accrued costs corresponding to  the 

contract amounts not yet contracted, we inspected 

invoices and other documents obtained from 

subcontractors as well as performed a comparative 

analysis between actual amounts and the contract 

amounts not yet contracted . 

・We evaluated the processes for estimating total 

construction revenue by comparing prior 

estimates with actual amounts or revised 

estimates. 

 

64



Valuation of goodwill arising on making Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. a subsidiary 

Description of Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response 

As of March 31, 2022, the Company recorded 

goodwill of ¥19,891 million associated with 

making Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. 

(“Maeda Road Construction”) a subsidiary. 

As described in “2. Valuation of goodwill” 

under “Significant accounting estimates” in the 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 

assets in the road civil engineering business are 

grouped as a unit for the impairment of 

goodwill, and when it is deemed that there is an 

indication certain asset groups that include 

goodwill may be impaired, it is necessary to 

determine whether an impairment loss needs to 

be recognized. 

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the 

Company assessed whether to recognize 

impairment losses as it was deemed that there 

was an indication of impairment because actual 

operating profit figures fell below the 

corresponding figures in the business plan used 

to calculate the share price at the time of 

acquisition of Maeda Road Construction due to 

a sharp rise in crude oil prices and other factors. 

Based on the impairment test, undiscounted 

future cash flows for the remaining amortization 

period of goodwill exceeded the book value of 

the asset groups that included goodwill. 

Therefore, the Company determined that it was 

not necessary to recognize an impairment loss. 

Future cash flows used in the impairment test 

were estimated based on the business plan 

approved by Maeda Road Construction’s board 

of directors taking into account assumptions 

such as future net sales of construction work in 

the road civil engineering business, gross 

margin, future sales volumes related to the 

manufacture and sale of asphalt mixture and 

other materials, and crude oil prices that impact 

sales prices and cost of materials. However, 

these assumptions are highly uncertain and 

management judgment has a significant effect 

on the estimates of future cash flows. 

Based on the above, we have determined that 

the valuation of goodwill arising on making 

We mainly performed the following audit procedures in 

considering the valuation of goodwill arising from 

establishing Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. as a 

subsidiary. 

(1) Evaluation related to identifying indicators of 

impairment 

・We gained an understanding of the business environment 

of the road civil engineering business through inquiries 

made of management and other relevant personnel and 

considered the existence of events indicating declines in 

profitability of the asset group in the road civil 

engineering business. 

・ To evaluate the effectiveness of management's 

estimation process for identifying whether there were 

indications of impairment of goodwill, we compared the 

operating profit of the business plan used at the time of 

acquiring shares of Maeda Road Construction and actual 

figures. 

(2) Evaluation of estimates of undiscounted future cash 

flows  

・We evaluated the Company’s assumptions for future 

sales of construction work based on the status of orders 

received and trend analysis of past net sales, and by 

performing a comparative analysis between past net 

sales and statistical data published by the Ministry of 

Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism related to 

trends in construction investment and work orders 

received from public agencies and the private sector. In 

addition, we evaluated the Company’s assumptions for 

future projections by considering the details of measures 

for aging roads and facilities, and other measures 

specified in the Five-Year Acceleration Plan for Disaster 

Prevention, Disaster Mitigation, and Building National 

Resilience published by the Cabinet Secretariat, the 

consistency with the scale of projects announced by the 

Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism 

based on such measures, and consistency of future 

projections with external data on construction 

investment forecasts,  and by performing a trend 

analysis of budgets related to the Road Bureau. We 

evaluated the Company’s assumptions for gross margins 

based on trend analysis performed on past gross margins 

as well as the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport 

and Tourism’s directive, Setting Appropriate Contract 
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Other Information 

The other information comprises the information included in the disclosure document that 

contains audited consolidated financial statements but does not include the consolidated 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  

We have concluded that the other information does not exist. Accordingly, we have not 

performed any work related to the other information. 

 

Responsibilities of Management, the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and 

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

Maeda Road Construction Co., Ltd. a subsidiary 

is of particular significance for the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2022, and, accordingly, that 

this is a key audit matter. 

Prices and Ensuring Appropriate Construction Periods 

that Reflect Transaction Prices, including Labor, Raw 

Materials, and Energy Costs. 

・We evaluated the Company’s assumptions for future 

sales volumes related to the manufacture and sale of 

asphalt mixture and other materials based on trend 

analysis performed on past sales. As with construction 

work mentioned above, in order to evaluate assumptions 

for future projections, we considered the details of 

measures for aging roads and facilities, and other 

measures specified in the Five-Year Acceleration Plan 

for Disaster Prevention, Disaster Mitigation, and 

Building National Resilience published by the Cabinet 

Secretariat, the consistency with the scale of projects 

announced by the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, 

Transport and Tourism based on such measures, and 

consistency of future projections with external data on 

construction investment forecasts, and performed a trend 

analysis of budgets related to the Road Bureau. We 

evaluated the Company’s assumptions for sales prices 

based on trend analysis performed on past sales prices, 

actual sales prices for several days prior to and after year 

end, as well as the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, 

Transport and Tourism’s directive Appropriate Transfer 

of Increases in Raw Materials Costs Such as Straight 

Asphalt to Asphalt Composite Materials Prices and 

Appropriate Setting of Contract Prices. We also 

evaluated assumptions for expected crude oil prices that 

impact the cost of materials by considering the 

consistency of such expected prices with available 

external data on crude oil prices. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and disclosing, as required by accounting 

principles generally accepted in Japan, matters related to going concern. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 

also: 

・ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

・ Consider internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for our risk assessments, while the purpose of the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements is not expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 

・ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

・ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

・ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

・ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 

the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with the ethical 

requirements regarding independence that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in Japan, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

 

Interest Required to Be Disclosed by the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan 

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Group which is 

required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public Accountants Act of 

Japan. 

 

Convenience Translation 

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to 

the year ended March 31, 2022 are presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included the 

translation of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such 

translation has been made on the basis described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC 

Tokyo, Japan 

February 10, 2023 

/s/ 鈴木 理 

Makoto Suzuki 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

/s/ 小島 亘司 

Koji Ojima  

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

/s/ 飴谷 健洋 

Takehiro Ametani  

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 
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